

Universidade Federal do Amapá



Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa e Pós-Graduação

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical

Mestrado e Doutorado

UNIFAP / EMBRAPA-AP / IEPA / CI-Brasil

# MARCELO MARTINS FERREIRA

# FATORES AMBIENTAIS QUE DETERMINAM A RIQUEZA, DIVERSIDADE TAXONÔMICA, FUNCIONAL E FILOGENÉTICA DE MORCEGOS EM UMA FLORESTA DE TERRA FIRME PRESERVADA NO NORDESTE DA AMAZÔNIA BRASILEIRA

MACAPÁ, AP

2021

### MARCELO MARTINS FERREIRA

# FATORES AMBIENTAIS QUE DETERMINAM A RIQUEZA, DIVERSIDADE TAXONÔMICA, FUNCIONAL E FILOGENÉTICA DE MORCEGOS EM UMA FLORESTA DE TERRA FIRME PRESERVADA NO NORDESTE DA AMAZÔNIA BRASILEIRA

Dissertação de mestrado apresentada ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical (PPGBIO) da Universidade Federal do Amapá, como requisito parcial à obtenção do título de Mestre em Biodiversidade Tropical.

Orientador: Dr. José Julio de Toledo

Co-Orientador: Dr. William Douglas Carvalho

MACAPÁ, AP

2021

Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) Biblioteca Central da Universidade Federal do Amapá Jamile da Conceição da Silva – CRB-2/1010

Ferreira, Marcelo Martins.

Fatores ambientais que determinam a riqueza, diversidade taxonômica, funcional e filogenética de morcegos em uma floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira. / Marcelo Martins Ferreira, orientador, José Júlio de Toledo; coorientador, William Douglas de Carvalho. – Macapá, 2021.

92 f.

Dissertação (Mestrado) – Universidade Federal do Amapá, Coordenação do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical.

1. Morcego. 2. Morcegos filostomídeos. 3. Diversidade alfa. 4. Floresta tropical. 5. Biodiversidade. I. Toledo, José Júlio de, orientador. II. Carvalho, William Douglas de, coorientador. III. Fundação Universidade Federal do Amapá. IV. Título.

599.4 F383f CDD. 22 ed.

### MARCELO MARTINS FERREIRA

# FATORES AMBIENTAIS QUE DETERMINAM A RIQUEZA, DIVERSIDADE TAXONÔMICA, FUNCIONAL E FILOGENÉTICA DE MORCEGOS EM UMA FLORESTA DE TERRA FIRME PRESERVADA NO NORDESTE DA AMAZÔNIA BRASILEIRA

Dr. José Júlio de Toledo

]

Universidade Federal do Amapá (UNIFAP)

Whith Thinks lullo Mil

Dr. William Douglas Mustin Carvalho

Universidade Federal do Amapá (UNIFAP)

Dr. Jose Maria Cardoso da Silva

Universidade Federal do Amapá (UNIFAP)

Dra. Maria João Veloso da Costa Ramos Pereira

Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul (UFRGS)

Aprovada em 30 de julho de 2021, Macapá, AP, Brasil

#### AGRADECIMENTOS

A minha família, em especial aos meus pais Maria das Graças Martins e José Caetano Soares Ferreira, que sempre me apoiaram e me incentivaram a continuar minha formação acadêmica.

A Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES – processo n° 88882.430000/2019-01) Brasil, pela bolsa de mestrado concedida.

A Universidade Federal do Amapá e ao Programa de Pós-graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical – PPGBio, que me proporcionaram suporte técnico e logístico para que esta obra fosse realizada.

Aos meus orientadores, Dr. William Douglas de Carvalho e o Dr. José Júlio de Toledo, pela ORIENTAÇÃO, sua paciência, dicas, ensinamentos, e sobre tudo, por me ajudarem a amadurecer no âmbito acadêmico e profissional.

Aos meus colegas e professores do PPGBio, por todo conhecimento e bons momentos compartilhados dentro e fora das salas de aulas. A professora Fernanda Michalski, pelo apoio logístico logo que cheguei na cidade de Macapá.

A minha pequena família Amapaense (os Moshos) Andrea Bárcenas Garcia, Marisol Alfaro, Cassiano Martins e Bruna Xavier, pela tolerância, acolhimento, apoio emocional, suportes variados e pelos bons momentos compartilhados.

A Gustavo Silveira, Cledinaldo Marques, Cremilson Marques, Raimundão e Dona Vita pelo auxílio na amostragem e logística para a realização das atividades de campo. Assim como aos moradores da FLOTA-AP e guarda parques da FLONA-AP (José e Jorge) por sua acolhida durante minha estadia.

Ao Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade (ICMBio) pelo auxílio logístico e autorizações para a realização deste estudo.

Ao Dr. José Maria Cardoso da Silva, Dra. Maria João Veloso da Costa Ramos Pereira e a Dra. Luciana de Moraes Costa, por se disporem de tempo e aceitarem o convite para a banca examinadora desta dissertação de mestrado.

Finalmente, aos *MORCEGOS* por me apresentarem a um universo enigmático, mas cheiode encantamentos e curiosidades.

GRATIDÃO A TODOS VOCÊS!!!!!

#### **RESUMO**

Ferreira, Marcelo Martins. Fatores ambientais que determinam a riqueza, diversidade taxonômica, funcional e filogenética de morcegos em uma floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira. Macapá, 2021. Dissertação (Mestre em Biodiversidade Tropical) – Programa de Pós-graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical – Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa e Pós-Graduação - Universidade Federal do Amapá.

Variações nas condições ambientais ao longo de gradientes desempenham um papelimportante na distribuição das espécies por meio da filtragem ambiental de característicasmorfológicas e fisiológicas, mas seus efeitos na diversidade de morcegos permanecem pouco entendidos. O objetivo principal deste estudo foi distinguir como a estrutura da vegetação (obstrução da vegetação, altura do dossel e área basal), topografia do terreno e distância para o corpo d'água mais próximo afetam as três dimensões da diversidade alfa (dimensões taxonômica, funcional e filogenética), além da predominância de alguns tracosfuncionais da comunidade de morcegos filostomídeos em uma área de floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira. Após um total de 77.760 m<sup>2</sup> .h de esforço amostral, que resultou na captura de 279 morcegos pertencentes a 28 espécies, demonstramos que em áreas mais distantes do corpo d'água, a assembleia de morcegos é muito mais rica em espécies e taxonomicamente e funcionalmente mais diversa. A riquezataxonômica também foi influenciada positivamente pela elevação do terreno. No entanto, não houve efeito de nenhuma das variáveis medidas sobre a diversidade filogenética. Contrariando as nossas expectativas, a massa média de morcegos foi influenciada positivamente pela área basal da floresta. Em conjunto, nossos resultados demonstram quevariações sutis nas condições ambientais de um mesmo gradiente em escala local, são suficientes para direcionar as principais dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos.

**Palavras-chave:** Chiroptera; diversidade alfa; traços funcionais; floresta tropical; filtro ambiental; morcegos filostomídeos; topografia; estrutura da vegetação; distância para ocorpo d'água.

#### ABSTRACT

Ferreira, Marcelo Martins. Environmental factors that determine the richness, taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity of bats in a preserved terra firme forest in the northeast of the Brazilian Amazon. Macapá, 2021. Dissertação (Mestre em Biodiversidade Tropical) – Programa de Pós-graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical – Pró-Reitoria de Pesquisa e Pós-Graduação - Universidade Federal do Amapá.

Variations in environmental conditions along gradients play an important role in species distributions through environmental filtering of morphological and physiological characteristics, however, their effects on bat diversity remain poorly understood. The main objective of this study was to investigate how vegetation structure (vegetation obstruction, canopy height and basal area), terrain topography and distance to the nearest watercourse affect both the three dimensions of alpha diversity (taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic), and the predominance of some functional traits, in the Phyllostomid bat community in an area of terra firme forest in the northeastern Brazilian Amazon. A total of77,760 m<sup>2</sup> .h of sampling effort resulted in the capture of 279 bats belonging to 28 species.Based on these data, we demonstrate that in areas that are more distant from watercourses, the bat assemblage is much richer in species and is taxonomically and functionally more diverse. Taxonomic richness was also positively influenced by terrain elevation. However, there was no effect of any of the measured variables on phylogenetic diversity. Contrary to our expectations, the average body mass of bats was positively influenced by the basal areaof the forest. Taken together, our results demonstrate that subtle variations in the environmental conditions at a local scale have an influence on the main dimensions of Phyllostomid bat alpha diversity.

**Keywords:** Chiroptera; alpha diversity; functional traits; tropical forest; environmental filter; phylostomid bats; topography; vegetation structure; Distance to the watercourse.

# SUMÁRIO

1. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL
1.1.FATORES AMBIENTAIS QUE ESTRUTURAM AS COMUNIDADES DE
ANIMAIS
1.2.ABORDAGEM MULTIDIMENSIONAL PARA MENSURAR A
BIODIVERSIDAD10
1.3.MORCEGOS E SUA IMPORTÂNCIA PARA VISUALIZAR PADRÕES
ECOLÓGICOS NA AMAZÔNIA 12
2. PREDIÇÕES 15
3. OBJETIVOS 17
3.1. GERAL
3.2. ESPECÍFICOS 17
4. REFERÊNCIAS 18
5. ARTIGO CIENTÍFICO
5.2. ABSTRACT
5.3. INTRODUCTION
5.3. METHODS
5.3.1. STUDY AREA
5.3.2. BAT SAMPLIN
5.3.3. FOREST STRUCTURE
5.3.4. TERRAIN ELEVATION AND DISTANCE TO THE NEAREST
WATERCOURS
5.3.5. FUNCTIONAL TRAITS
5.3.6. ALPHA DIVERSITY
5.3.7. COMMUNITY WEIGHTED INDEXES
5.3.8. DATA ANALYSIS
6. RESULTS
6.1. ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS DRIVING RICHNESS AND ALPHA
DIVERSITY COMPONENTS 41
6.2. ENVIRONMENTAL FACTORS THAT DRIVE THE PREDOMINANCE OF
FUNCTIONAL TRAITS 42
7. DISCUSSION
7.1. IMPLICATIONS FOR CONSERVATION
8. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS
9. REFERENCES

11.	CONCLUSÕES	91
12.	ANEXOS	92

# 1. INTRODUÇÃO GERAL

# 1.1. FATORES AMBIENTAIS QUE ESTRUTURAM AS COMUNIDADES DE ANIMAIS

Os animais percebem o ambiente por meio da disponibilidade de recursos e por isso procuram melhores locais para se alimentarem, abrigarem e reproduzirem (MacArthur e Pianka 1966, Carr e Macdonald 1986, Capaverde et al. 2018). Fatores como disponibilidade de alimento (August 1983, Lambert et al. 2006, Dodd et al. 2008, Capaverde et al. 2018), estrutura da vegetação (MacArthur e MacArthur 1961, Kerr e Packer 1997, Poulsen 2002, Williams et al. 2002), disponibilidade de água (Rojas-Ahumada et al. 2012) e relevo (Curran et al. 2012, Carvalho et al. 2019) podem ser cruciais para o estabelecimento de espécies. Esse processo é definido como seleção ideal de habitat, e prediz que os indivíduos podem se locomover livremente no habitat para maximizar a aptidão individual (Holt 1985), podendo afetar os padrões de riqueza e distribuição das assembleias em um gradiente florestal (Lambert et al. 2006, Rojas-Ahumada et al. 2012).

Estrutura da vegetação, topografia, proximidade aos corpos d'água e disponibilidade de alimento, frequentemente, explicam a distribuição de espécies (Williams et al. 2002, Pereira et al. 2009, Bueno et al. 2012, Capaverde et al. 2018). Mudanças na estrutura física e taxonômica da vegetação influenciam no movimento, nos locais de abrigo e nidificação e disponibilidade de alimento para os animais (Castagneyrol and Jactel 2012). Além disso, gradientes topográficos com até 3.000 m apresentam grandes variações de temperatura, precipitação e radiação solar (Willig and Presley 2015), que criam vários tipos de habitats e influenciam na distribuição de espécies. No entanto, variações mais sutis na topografia (<100 m) também resultam em alterações nas comunidades vegetais (Pansonato 2012, Schietti et al. 2014), o que afeta a distribuição dos animais (Menin et al. 2007, Fraga et al. 2011). Além da topografia, a influência das margens de rios também afeta a distribuição dos animais devido à disponibilidade de alimentos nesses ambientes (Marques et al. 2012).

A relevância das características ambientais para estruturação das assembleias tem sido demonstrada para vários grupos de animais. Em escala local em um gradiente de floresta tropical, Williams et al. (2012), demostraram que as estruturas das assembleias de pequenos mamíferos não voadores estão intimamente relacionadas com a estrutura da vegetação, de modo que, a riqueza de pequenos mamíferos aumentava de acordo a

complexidade da vegetação. Lees andPeres (2008) demonstraram que fatores como cobertura do dossel, área basal e altura da vegetação afetam a distribuição de mamíferos de médios e grande porte. Outros trabalhos realizados com assembleias de aves (Poulsen 2002, Oliveira et al. 2019), anfíbios, répteis (Atauri e Lucio 2001, Fraga et al. 2011), e morcegos (Estrada-Villegas et al. 2012) também evidenciaram o efeito da estrutura da paisagem na distribuição e diversidade de espécies. No entanto, são poucos os estudos que vão além da dimensão taxonômica (e.g., riqueza, abundâncias e composição de espécies) para tentar explicar os principais fatores que estruturam as assembleias de animais (Oliveira et al. 2019). Incorporar outras dimensões da diversidade de espécies pode nos dar uma maior compreensão de como os fatores ambientais estão direcionando essas dimensões e estruturando as assembleias de animais dentro de um gradiente ambiental (Cisneros et al. 2014, Oliveira et al. 2019).

# 1.2. ABORDAGEM MULTIDIMENSIONAL PARA MENSURAR A BIODIVERSIDADE

Identificar e compreender os padrões que estruturam a biodiversidade são alguns dos principais objetivos de estudos ecológicos (Connor e Simberloff 1979, MacArthur 1984, Lawton 1999, Pavoine e Bonsall 2011, Magurran 2013, Arnan et al. 2017, Dambros et al. 2020). Assim, mensurando a biodiversidade, estudos buscam determinar quais fatores espaciais, ambientais e temporais estruturam os diferentes padrões de distribuição de espécies, tanto em escala local como global (Chase e Leibold 2002, Leibold et al. 2004, Kreft e Jetz 2007). A mensuração da biodiversidade não deve simplesmente quantificar um conjunto de diferentes espécies e a uniformidade de suas abundancias (diversidade taxonômica) (DeJong 1975), mas sim mensurar a biodiversidade através de uma abordagem multifacetada, incluindo diferentes escalas no espaco e no tempo, além das características funcionais das espécies (e.g., diversidade funcional) e diferentes linhagens evolutivas [e.g., diversidade filogenética (Pavoine e Bonsall 2011)]. No entanto, conhecemos muito sobre padrões taxonômicos da biodiversidade, porém com grandes lacunas no conhecimento relacionado às dimensões funcional e filogenética (Pavoine e Bonsall 2011, Swenson 2013, Aguirre et al. 2016, Arnan et al. 2017). Atualmente, esse viés em relação à dimensão taxonômica da biodiversidade tem sido suprimido com o advento de diferentes ferramentas para se mensurar as diferentes dimensões da diversidade, considerando diferentes índices ecológicos (Pla et al. 2012, Cardoso et al. 2014, Chao et al. 2014, Melo et al. 2014, Moreno et al. 2018).

Dentre as três dimensões da biodiversidade, a diversidade funcional reflete as características morfológicas, fisiológicas e ecológicas encontrada em uma determinada comunidade (Petchey e Gaston 2006), oferecendo uma visão mecanicista para a resistência, resiliência e funcionamento do ecossistema. Já a diversidade filogenética reflete diferenças evolutivas entre as espécies com base nos tempos desde a divergência de um ancestral comum (Faith 1992, Webb et al. 2002) e representa uma estimativa abrangente das diferenças ecológicas e fenotípicas filogeneticamente conservadas entre as espécies (Cavender-Bares et al. 2009). Quando usadas em conjunto, as três dimensões da biodiversidade, temos resultados muito mais robustos e interpretativos sobre os diferentes padrões de diversidade, nos permitindo discutir também sobre como o meio interfere na função ecológica e na história evolutiva das espécies (Leibold 1995, Larson e Losos 1996, Webb 2000, Webb et al. 2002, Fukami et al. 2005, Cadotte et al. 2013, Swenson 2013, Cisneros et al. 2015, Ramos Pereira et al. 2018, Carvalho et al. 2020). Portanto, o uso das múltiplas dimensões da diversidade em estudos ecológicos pode nos ajudar a entender os diferentes padrões evolutivos das espécies, assim como suportar de forma robusta diferentes diretrizes direcionadas à conservação de habitats e espécies (Vane-Wright et al. 1991, Faith 1996, Cadotte et al. 2011, Freitas e Mantovani 2017, Tucker et al. 2017).

Abordagens multidimensionais também podem nos trazer informações mais robustas para entender como fatores ambientais, como a filtragem ambiental, afetam a formação das comunidades de espécies (Pavoine e Bonsall 2011). Em geral, espere-se uma correlação positiva entre as dimensões taxonômica, funcional e filogenética, visto que, um aumento na diversidade de espécies pode refletir em mais linhagens e características funcionais acumuladas na comunidade (Losos 2008). No entanto, os mecanismos que direcionam variações na riqueza de espécies podem não ser os mesmos responsáveis pela variação nas características funcionais e filogenéticas (Cisneros et al. 2014).

Maior riqueza taxonômica ao longo de um gradiente ambiental, em relação aos componentes funcional e filogenético, deve-se a filtragem ambiental que atua nas espécies que compartilham características funcionais semelhantes (ou historias filogenéticas semelhantes), as quais serão importantes para a persistências das espécies (e linhagens) em um determinado habitat (Hermant et al. 2012, Cisneros et al. 2014, Farneda et al. 2015, Frank et al. 2017). Em tais cenários, a capacidade de lidar com o filtro ambiental específico é compartilhado em espécies mais estritamente relacionadas da comunidade (Kraft et al. 2007, De Pauw et al. 2021). No entanto, espécies de diferentes

linhagens filogenéticas podem adquirir a capacidade de se adaptar a filtragem ambiental de forma independente, levando a uma maior diversidade filogenética em relação a riqueza de espécies (De Pauw et al. 2021). Isso mostra que diferentes aspectos da diversidade podem ser direcionados por condições ambientais contrastantes e em diferentes direções (De Pauw et al. 2021), evidenciando a importância de olhar além da dimensão taxonômica, utilizando abordagens que quantificam a diversidade funcional e filogenética.

# 1.3. MORCEGOS E SUA IMPORTÂNCIA PARA VISUALIZAR PADRÕES ECOLÓGICOS NA AMAZÔNIA

Morcegos possuem um elevado número de espécies e guildas alimentares bem conhecidas (Kalko et al. 1996, Emmons e Feer 1997, Simmons e Voss 1998, Schnitzler e Kalko 2001, Giannini e Kalko 2004, Fenton e Simmons 2015, Reis et al. 2017, López-Baucells 2018), além de serem bastante sensíveis à mudanças na paisagem (Stevens et al. 2007). Sendo assim, os morcegos são de grande interesse para estudos que visam avaliar os efeitos de mudanças ambientais na seleção do habitat. Por exemplo, morcegos respondem a gradientes de elevação topográficos (Capaverde et al. 2018), a variações no clima (Estrada-Villegas et al. 2012), e sua riqueza e abundância de espécies são influenciadas pela estrutura do habitat. Portanto, isso permite relacionar distribuição de espécies com características ambientais (Colombo 2017).

Estrutura da vegetação pode determinar diferentes assimetrias no uso de habitats. Por exemplo, morcegos com adaptações morfológicas para forrageio em habitats abertos têm dificuldades em forragear em locais com vegetação densa (Norberg e Rayner 1987, Muller et al. 2012). Provavelmente, isso deve estar relacionado ao comportamento de voo dos morcegos (Bobrowiec et al. 2014), pois morcegos que possuem um voo rápido devido a um maior aspecto e carga relativa da asa, vão voar preferencialmente em espaços abertos, enquanto que espécies que possuem um voo altamente manobrável, devido a menor carga alar e menor aspecto de asa são mais favorecidas em locais com vegetação densa (Siemers e Swift 2005, Muller et al. 2012). Sendo assim, a estrutura da vegetação se comporta como um filtro, selecionando as espécies de maior manobrabilidade (Stockwell 2001, Marciente et al. 2015).

A disponibilidade de alimento também se mostra como um fator determinante na dinâmica populacional de morcegos. Isso é demonstrado no estudo de Ramos Pereira et al. (2010), onde constatou-se que uma maior oferta de frutas na época de cheia contribuiu

para uma variação na abundância de morcegos frugívoros (*Carollia perspicillata* e *Artibeus planirostris*) dentro e entre florestas de várzea, igapó e floresta de terra firme não inundada. Outro estudo, realizado por (Oliveira et al. 2015), mostrou que a atividade de *Pteronotus parnellii* foi maior em áreas não ripárias, devido a maior biomassa de insetos, do que em áreas ripárias

Gradientes topográficos também podem influenciar os padrões de distribuições de morcegos (Stein et al. 2014). Por exemplo, Carvalho et al. (2019) demonstraram que a diversidade de morcegos diminuiu acentuadamente com o incremento da elevação. Esses padrões de distribuição de morcegos em gradientes altitudinais têm sido demonstrados, principalmente, em altitudes de até 3.000 m (Bejarano-Bonilla et al. 2007, Carvalho et al. 2019), pois apresentam grandes variações de temperatura, precipitação e radiação solar (Willig e Presley 2015). No entanto, ao longo das terras baixas amazônicas, variação mais sutil na topografia (< 100) resultam em alterações nas comunidades vegetais (Pansonato et al. 2012, Schietti et al. 2014), com consequente influência na distribuição de vertebrados, incluindo morcegos (Kabat et al. 2007, Menin et al. 2007, e Fraga 2011).

Topografia, estrutura da vegetação e disponibilidade de alimento já são bem documentados como preditores da diversidade e estrutura da comunidade de morcegos na Amazônia (Marques et al. 2012, Muller et al. 2012, Silva 2012, Marciente et al. 2015, Bobrowiec e Tavares 2017, Carvalho et al. 2019). Todavia, estes estudos focaram em ambientes muito diferentes. Por exemplo, diferenças nas comunidades de morcegos entre terra firme e várzea (Bobrowiec et al. 2014), terra firme, savanas e campinaranas (Carvalho et al. 2018) e entre terra firme, várzea e igapó (Ramos Pereira et al. 2009, Marques et al. 2012). Neste caso, a composição das espécies pode estar relacionada a cada tipo de vegetação e, portanto, ocultando variações dentro de cada ambiente (Tews et al. 2003, Capaverde Junior 2015). Entretanto, pouco se conhece sobre os direcionadores da diversidade e estrutura da comunidade de morcegos em um mesmo gradiente ambiental (Marciente et al. 2015, Capaverde et al. 2018, Pereira et al. 2019). Em um mesmo gradiente, é possível que variações mais sutis de um mesmo tipo de vegetação possam influenciar na diversidade e composição de morcegos em uma escala mais local (Ober e Hayes 2008, Estrada-Villegas et al. 2012, Capaverde Junior 2015).

Apesar de diferentes estudos terem sido realizados em um mesmo gradiente ambiental nos últimos anos (Marciente et al. 2015, Capaverde et al. 2018, Pereira et al. 2019), nenhum desses estudos avaliou simultaneamente as dimensões taxonômica, funcional e filogenética. Portanto, nosso objetivo neste estudo é distinguir como a estrutura da vegetação (obstrução da vegetação, área basal e altura do dossel), altitude e distância para o corpo d'água mais próximo afetam as três dimensões da diversidade alfa (dimensão taxonômica, funcional e filogenética), além da predominância de alguns traços funcionais (massa corporal, morfologia da asa e nível trófico) da comunidade de morcegos filostomídeos em uma área de floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira.

# 2. PREDIÇÕES

- O aumento da obstrução da vegetação leva a uma diminuição nas dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos ao nível do sub-bosque, pois dificulta a manobrabilidade e ecolocalização dos morcegos filostomídeos (Hagen e Sabo 2011, Marciente et al. 2015).
- Área basal é um indicador de poleiros, abrigos e disponibilidade de alimentos (Aguirre et al. 2003, Carbone et al. 2013, Minor e Kobe 2019). Devido a isso, esperamos que um incremento em seu valor influencie positivamente nas dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos filostomídeos.
- Esperamos que altura do dossel afete positivamente as dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos filostomídeos, pois um dossel mais alto apresenta maior variação vertical das condições ambientais como biomassa vegetal, temperatura, umidade e luz (Bazzaz 1975, Parker et al. 1995, Clark et al. 2008), gerando diferentes formas de aproveitar os recursos disponíveis.
- Esperamos que o aumento da elevação influencie positivamente as dimensões da diversidade alfa, pois áreas mais elevadas tendem a ter maior complexidade da vegetação [e.g., maior riqueza de espécies de plantas e estrutura da vegetação lenhosa (Jankowski et al. 2013, Rodrigues et al. 2014, Toledo et al. 2017)], e isso, por sua vez, refle em uma maior diversidade de abrigos e alimentos para os morcegos filostomídeos.
- Os solos são mais arenosos, encharcados e pouco oxigenados em áreas próximas aos corpos d'água, o que limita o crescimento de muitas espécies de plantas afetando a diversidade de recursos como alimentos e abrigos para os morcegos filostomídeos nessas regiões (Costa et al. 2005). Devido a essas condições, esperamos uma relação positiva da distância do corpo d'água com as dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos filostomídeos.
- Em relação aos traços funcionais da comunidade, morcegos com maior massa corporal, aspecto e carga relativa da asa tendem a ter menor capacidade de

manobrabilidade durante o voo e, por isso, são favorecidos em ambientes mais abertos. Assim, espécies com estas características utilizarão mais os locais com menor grau de obstrução de sub-bosque, área basal, áreas com maior altura do dossel, áreas menos elevadas e mais próximas dos corpos d´água (Sleep e Brigham 2003, Ober e Hayes 2008, Hanspach et al. 2012, Marinello e Bernard 2014, Blakey et al. 2017).

Nós também esperamos que morcegos animalívoros, que em geral apresentam valores menores de aspecto da asa e carga relativa da asa, sejam mais associados a ambientes mais obstruidos com maior grau de obstrução do sub-bosque, área basal, menor altura do dossel e em áreas mais elevadas e mais distantes dos corpos d'água (Norberg e Fenton 1988, Fenton et al. 1992, Medellín et al. 2000, Giannini e Kalko 2004, Bobrowiec e Gribel 2010, Marinello e Bernard 2014). Por outro lado, morcegos fitófagos que são mais generalistas, terão maior peso médio em ambientes menos complexos, áreas menos elevadas e próximas aos corpos d'água, devido a maior abundância de frutas nessas regiões (Marques et al. 2012).

## 3. **OBJETIVOS**

## 3.1. GERAL

Avaliar o efeito dos fatores ambientais sobre a diversidade alfa e a predominância de traços funcionais de *morcegos* filostomídeos em floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira.

# **3.2. ESPECÍFICOS**

- Avaliar o efeito da obstrução da vegetação, área basal, altura do dossel, altitude e distância até o curso d'água mais próximo sobre a diversidade alfa de morcegos filostomídeos de uma floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira.
  - Avaliar o efeito da obstrução da vegetação, área basal, altura do dossel, altitude e distância até o corpo d'água mais próximo sobre a predominância de alguns traços funcionais (massa corporal, morfologia da asa e nível trófico) de morcegos filostomídeos em uma floresta de terra firme preservada no nordeste da Amazônia brasileira.

### 4. **REFERÊNCIAS**

- Aguirre, LF, L Lens, e E Matthysen. 2003. Patterns of roost use by bats in a neotropical savanna: implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation* 111:435-443.
- Aguirre, LF, FA Montaño-Centellas, MM Gavilanez, e RD Stevens. 2016. Taxonomic and phylogenetic determinants of functional composition of Bolivian bat assemblages. *PLoS One* 11:e0158170.
- Arnan, X, X Cerdá, e J Retana. 2017. Relationships among taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic ant diversity across the biogeographic regions of Europe. *Ecography* 40:448-457.
- Atauri, JA, e JV Lucio. 2001. The role of landscape structure in species richness distribution of birds, amphibians, reptiles and lepidopterans in Mediterranean landscapes. *Landscape Ecology* 16:147–159.
- August, PV. 1983. The role of habitat complexity and heterogeneity in structuring tropical mammal communities. *Ecology* 64:1495-1507.
- Bazzaz, FA. 1975. Plant species diversity in old-field successional ecosystems in southern lllinois. *Ecology* 56:485-488.
- Bejarano-Bonilla, DA, A Yate-Rivas, e MH Bernal-Bautista. 2007. Bat diversity and distribution along an altitudinal transect in theTolima region of Colombia. *Caldasia* 29:297-308.
- Blakey, RIV, BS Law, RT Kingsford, e J Stoklosa. 2017. Terrestrial laser scanning reveals below-canopy bat trait relationships with forest structure. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 198:40-51.
- Bobrowiec, PED, e R Gribel. 2010. Effects of different secondary vegetation types on bat community composition in Central Amazonia, Brazil. *Animal Conservation* 13:204-216.
- Bobrowiec, PED, LS Rosa, J Gazarini, e T Haugaasen. 2014. Phyllostomid bat assemblage structure in Amazonian flooded and unflooded forests. *Biotropica* 46:312-321.
- Bobrowiec, PED, e VDC Tavares. 2017. Establishing baseline biodiversity data prior to hydroelectric dam construction to monitoring impacts to bats in the Brazilian Amazon. *PLoS One* 12:e0183036.
- Bueno, AS, RS Bruno, TP Pimentel, TM Sanaiotti, e WE Magnusson. 2012. The width of riparian habitats for understory birds in an Amazonian forest. *Ecological Applications* 22:722-734.
- Cadotte, M, CH Albert, e SC Walker. 2013. The ecology of differences: assessing community assembly with trait and evolutionary distances. *Ecology Letters* 16:1234-1244.
- Cadotte, MW, K Carscadden, e N Mirotchnick. 2011. Beyond species: functional diversity and the maintenance of ecological processes and services. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 48:1079-1087.
- Capaverde Junior, UD. 2015. Mudanças sutis na elevação determinam a estrutura das assembleias de morcegos Phyllostomid ae na Amazônia central. 2015.Disertação (Biologia (Ecologia)) Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Manaus, Brasil.
- Capaverde, UDJ, GA Pereira, VdC Tavares, WE Magnusson, FB Baccaro, e PED Bobrowiec. 2018. Subtle changes in elevation shift bat-assemblage structure in Central Amazonia. *Biotropica* 50: 674-683.

- Carbone, MS, CI Czimczik, TF Keenan, PF Murakami, N Pederson, PG Schaberg, X Xu, e AD Richardson. 2013. Age, allocation and availability of nonstructural carbon in mature red maple trees. *New Phytologist* 200:1145-1155.
- Cardoso, P, F Rigal, JC Carvalho, M Fortelius, PA Borges, J Podani, e D Schmera. 2014. Partitioning taxon, phylogenetic and functional beta diversity into replacement and richness difference components. *Journal of Biogeography* 41:749-761.
- Carr, G, e D Macdonald. 1986. The sociality of solitary foragers: a model based on resource dispersion. *Animal Behaviour* 34:1540-1549.
- Carvalho, WD, LAC Gomes, IJD Castro, AC Martins, CEL Esbérard, e K Mustin. 2018. Beyond the Amazon Forest: Richness and Abundance of Bats in the Understory of Savannahs, Campinaranas and Terra Firme Forest. Acta Chiropterologica 20: 407–419.
- Carvalho, WD, MA Martins, CEL Esbérard, e JM Palmeirim. 2019. Traits that allow bats of tropical lowland origin to conquer mountains: Bat assemblages along elevational gradients in the South American Atlantic Forest. *Journal of Biogeography* 46:316-331.
- Carvalho, WD, CF Meyer, BS Xavier, K Mustin, I Castro, SM Silvestre, DB Pathek, U Capaverde, R Hilário, e JJ Toledo. 2020. Consequences of replacing native savannahs with acacia plantations for the taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic  $\alpha$ -and  $\beta$ -diversity of bats in the northern Brazilian Amazon. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* 8:609214.
- Cavender-Bares, J, KH Kozak, PV Fine, e SW Kembel. 2009. The merging of community ecology and phylogenetic biology. *Ecology Letters* 12:693-715.
- Chao, A, C-H Chiu, e L Jost. 2014. Unifying species diversity, phylogenetic diversity, functional diversity, and related similarity and differentiation measures through Hill numbers. *Annual review of ecology, evolution, and systematics* 45:297-324.
- Chase, JM, e MA Leibold. 2002. Spatial scale dictates the productivity–biodiversity relationship. *Nature* 416:427-430.
- Cisneros, LM, KR Burgio, LM Dreiss, BT Klingbeil, BD Patterson, SJ Presley, e MR Willig. 2014. Multiple dimensions of bat biodiversity along an extensive tropical elevational gradient. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 83:1124-1136.
- Cisneros, LM, ME Fagan, MR Willig, e R Mac Nally. 2015. Effects of human-modified landscapes on taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic dimensions of bat biodiversity. *Diversity and Distributions* 21:523-533.
- Clark, DB, PC Olivas, SF Oberbauer, DA Clark, e MG Ryan. 2008. First direct landscapescale measurement of tropical rain forest Leaf Area Index, a key driver of global primary productivity. *Ecology Letters* 11:163-172.
- Colombo, GT. 2017. Influência dos traços funcionais na distribuição de morcegos insetívoros aéreos em uma paisagem insularizada. Disertação. (Biologia (Ecologia). Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia, Brasil.
- Connor, EF, e D Simberloff. 1979. The assembly of species communities: chance or competition? *Ecology* 60:1132-1140.
- Costa, FRC, WE Magnusson, e RC Luizao. 2005. Mesoscale distribution patterns of Amazonian understorey herbs in relation to topography, soil and watersheds. *Journal of Ecology* 93:863-878.
- Curran, M, M Kopp, J Beck, e J Fahr. 2012. Species diversity of bats along an altitudinal gradient on Mount Mulanje, southern Malawi. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 28:243-253.
- Dambros, C, G Zuquim, GM Moulatlet, FR Costa, H Tuomisto, CC Ribas, R Azevedo, F Baccaro, PE Bobrowiec, e MS Dias. 2020. The role of environmental filtering,

geographic distance and dispersal barriers in shaping the turnover of plant and animal species in Amazonia. *Biodiversity and Conservation* 29:3609-3634.

- De Pauw, K, C Meeussen, S Govaert, P Sanczuk, T Vanneste, M Bernhardt-Römermann, K Bollmann, J Brunet, K Calders, e SA Cousins. 2021. Taxonomic, phylogenetic and functional diversity of understorey plants respond differently to environmental conditions in European forest edges. *Journal of Ecology* 109:2629-2648.
- DeJong, TM. 1975. A comparison of three diversity indices based on their components of richness and evenness. *Oikos* 26:222-227.
- Dodd, LE, MJ Lacki, e LK Rieske. 2008. Variation in moth occurrence and implications for foraging habitat of Ozark big-eared bats. *Forest Ecology and Management* 255:3866-3872.
- e Fraga, RLP, A. Magnusson, W. E. 2011. Mesoscale spatial ecology of a tropical snake assemblage: the width of riparian corridors in central Amazonia. *The Herpetological Journal* 21:51-57.
- Emmons, LH, e F Feer. 1997. Neotropical rainforest mammals: A Field Guide. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, USA.
- Estrada-Villegas, S, BJ McGill, e EKV Kalko. 2012. Climate, habitat, and species interactions at different scales determine the structure of a Neotropical bat community. *Ecology* 93:1183-1193.
- Faith, DP. 1992. Conservation evaluation and phylogenetic diversity. *Biological Conservation* 61:1-10.
- Faith, DP. 1996. Conservation priorities and phylogenetic pattern. *Conservation Biology* 10:1286-1289.
- Farneda, FZ, R Rocha, A López-Baucells, M Groenenberg, I Silva, JM Palmeirim, PE Bobrowiec, e CF Meyer. 2015. Trait-related responses to habitat fragmentation in Amazonian bats. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 52:1381-1391.
- Fenton, M, L Acharya, D Audet, M Hickey, C Merriman, M Obrist, D Syme, e B Adkins. 1992. Phyllostomid bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae) as indicators of habitat disruption in the Neotropics. *Biotropica* 24:440-446.
- Fenton, MB, e NB Simmons. 2015. Bats. A World of Science and Mystery. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Fraga, R, AP Lima, e WE Magnusson. 2011. Mesoscale spatial ecology of a tropical snake assemblage: the width of riparian corridors in Central Amazonia. *Herpetological Journal* 21:51-57.
- Frank, HK, LO Frishkoff, CD Mendenhall, GC Daily, e EA Hadly. 2017. Phylogeny, traits, and biodiversity of a Neotropical bat assemblage: close relatives show similar responses to local deforestation. *The American Naturalist* 190:200-212.
- Freitas, JR, e W Mantovani. 2017. An overview of the applicability of functional diversity in Biological Conservation. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* 78:517-524.
- Fukami, T, T Martijn Bezemer, SR Mortimer, e WH van der Putten. 2005. Species divergence and trait convergence in experimental plant community assembly. *Ecology Letters* 8:1283-1290.
- Giannini, NP, e EKV Kalko. 2004. Trophic structure in a large assemblage of Phyllostomid bats in Panama. *Oikos* 105:209-220.
- Hagen, EM, e JL Sabo. 2011. A landscape perspective on bat foraging ecology along rivers: does channel confinement and insect availability influence the response of bats to aquatic resources in riverine landscapes? *Oecologia* 166:751-760.

- Hanspach, J, J Fischer, K Ikin, J Stott, e BS Law. 2012. Using trait-based filtering as a predictive framework for conservation: a case study of bats on farms in southeastern Australia. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 49:842-850.
- Hermant, M, F Hennion, IV Bartish, B Yguel, e A Prinzing. 2012. Disparate relatives: life histories vary more in genera occupying intermediate environments. *Perspectives in plant ecology, evolution and systematics* 14:283-301.
- Holt, RD. 1985. Population dynamics in two-patch environments: Some anomalous consequences of an optimal habitat distribution. *Theoretical Population Biology* 28:181-208.
- Jankowski, JE, CL Merkord, WF Rios, KG Cabrera, NS Revilla, e MR Silman. 2013. The relationship of tropical bird communities to tree species composition and vegetation structure along an Andean elevational gradient. *Journal of Biogeography* 40:950-962.
- Kabat, AP, RA Phillips, JP Croxall, e PJ Butler. 2007. Differences in metabolic costs of terrestrial mobility in two closely related species of albatross. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 210:2851-2858.
- Kalko, EKV, C Handley, e D Handley. 1996. Chapter 16: Organization, diversity, and long-term dynamics of a Neotropical bat community. Pages 503-553 in ML Cody e JA Smallwood, editors. Long-term studies of vertebrate communities. Academic Press, Los Angeles.
- Kerr, JT, e L Packer. 1997. Habitat heterogeneity as a determinant of mammal species richness in high-energy regions. *Nature* 385:252-254.
- Kraft, NJ, WK Cornwell, CO Webb, e DD Ackerly. 2007. Trait evolution, community assembly, and the phylogenetic structure of ecological communities. *The American Naturalist* 170:271-283.
- Kreft, H, e W Jetz. 2007. Global patterns and determinants of vascular plant diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104:5925-5930.
- Lambert, TD, JR Malcolm, e BL Zimmerman. 2006. Amazonian small mammal abundances in relation to habitat structure and resource abundance. *journal of Mammalogy* 87:766–776.
- Larson, A, e JB Losos. 1996. Phylogenetic systematics of adaptation. *Adaptation*:187-220.
- Lawton, JH. 1999. Are there general laws in ecology? Oikos 84:177-192.
- Lees, AC, e CA Peres. 2008. Conservation value of remnant riparian forest corridors of varying quality for amazonian birds and mammals. *Conservation Biology* 22:439-449.
- Leibold, MA. 1995. The niche concept revisited: mechanistic models and community context. *Ecology* 76:1371-1382.
- Leibold, MA, M Holyoak, N Mouquet, P Amarasekare, JM Chase, MF Hoopes, RD Holt, JB Shurin, R Law, e D Tilman. 2004. The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. *Ecology Letters* 7:601-613.
- López-Baucells, A. 2018. Field guide to the bats of the Amazon. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Amazonicas (INPA), Manaus.
- Losos, JB. 2008. Phylogenetic niche conservatism, phylogenetic signal and the relationship between phylogenetic relatedness and ecological similarity among species. *Ecology Letters* 11:995-1003.
- MacArthur, RH. 1984. Geographical ecology: patterns in the distribution of species. Princeton University Press.
- MacArthur, RH, e JW MacArthur. 1961. On bird species diversity. Ecology 42:594-598.

- MacArthur, RH, e ER Pianka. 1966. On optimal use of a patchy environment. *The American Naturalist* 100:603-609.
- Magurran, AE. 2013. Measuring biological diversity. John Wiley & Sons, 266 pp.
- Marciente, R, PED Bobrowiec, e WE Magnusson. 2015. Ground-Vegetation Clutter Affects Phyllostomid Bat Assemblage Structure in Lowland Amazonian Forest. *PLoS One* 10:e0129560.
- Marinello, MM, e E Bernard. 2014. Wing morphology of Neotropical bats: a quantitative and qualitative analysis with implications for habitat use. *Canadian Journal of Zoology* 92:141-147.
- Marques, JT, MJ Ramos Pereira, e JM Palmeirim. 2012. Availability of Food for Frugivorous Bats in Lowland Amazonia: The Influence of Flooding and of River Banks. *Acta Chiropterologica* 14:183-194.
- Medellín, RA, M Equihua, e MA Amin. 2000. Bat diversity and abundance as indicators of disturbance in Neotropical rainforests. *Conservation Biology* 14:1666-1675.
- Melo, AS, MV Cianciaruso, e M Almeida-Neto. 2014. tree NODF: nestedness to phylogenetic, functional and other tree-based diversity metrics. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5:563-572.
- Menin, M, AP Lima, WE Magnusson, e F Waldez. 2007. Topographic and edaphic effects on the distribution of terrestrially reproducing anurans in Central Amazonia: mesoscale spatial patterns. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 23:539-547.
- Minor, DM, e RK Kobe. 2019. Fruit production is influenced by tree size and sizeasymmetric crowding in a wet tropical forest. *Ecology and Evolution* 9:1458-1472.
- Moreno, CE, JM Calderón-Patrón, N Martín-Regalado, AP Martínez-Falcón, IJ Ortega-Martínez, CL Rios-Díaz, e F Rosas. 2018. Measuring species diversity in the tropics: a review of methodological approaches and framework for future studies. *Biotropica* 50:929-941.
- Muller, J, M Mehr, C Bassler, MB Fenton, T Hothorn, H Pretzsch, HJ Klemmt, e R Brandl. 2012. Aggregative response in bats: prey abundance versus habitat. *Oecologia* 169:673-684.
- Norberg, UM, e MB Fenton. 1988. Carnivorous bats? *Biological Journal of the Linnean* Society 33:383-394.
- Norberg, UM, e JMV Rayner. 1987. Ecological morphology and flight in bats (Mammalia; Chiroptera): wing adaptations, flight performance, foraging strategy and echolocation. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B: Biological Sciences* 316:335-427.
- Ober, HK, e JP Hayes. 2008. Influence of vegetation on bat use of riparian areas at multiple spatial scales. *Journal of Wildlife Management* 72:396-404.
- Oliveira, Jd, SM Almeida, FP Florencio, JB Pinho, DMM Oliveira, R Ligeiro, e DJ Rodrigues. 2019. Environmental structure affects taxonomic diversity but not functional structure of understory birds in the southwestern Brazilian Amazon. *Acta Amazonica* 49:232-241.
- Oliveira, LQ, R Marciente, WE Magnusson, e PED Bobrowiec. 2015. Activity of the insectivorous bat Pteronotus parnellii relative to insect resources and vegetation structure. *Journal of Mammalogy* 96:1036-1044.
- Pansonato, MP, FRC Costa, CV Castilho, FA Carvalho, e G Zuquim. 2012. Spatial scale or amplitude of predictors as determinants of the relative importance of environmental factors to plant community structure. *Biotropica* 45:299-307.
- Parker, GG, MD Lowman, e NM Nadkarni. 1995. Forest canopies (Physiological Ecology). Academic Press.

- Pavoine, S, e MB Bonsall. 2011. Measuring biodiversity to explain community assembly: a unified approach. *Biological Reviews* 86:792-812.
- Pereira, L, UD Capavede, Jr., VDC Tavares, WE Magnusson, PED Bobrowiec, e FB Baccaro. 2019. From a bat's perspective, protected riparian areas should be wider than defined by Brazilian laws. *J Environ Manage* 232:37-44.
- Pereira, MJR, JT Marques, e JM Palmeirim. 2010. Ecological responses of frugivorous bats to seasonal fluctuation in fruit availability in amazonian forests. *Biotropica* 42:680-687.
- Pereira, MJR, JT Marques, J Santana, CD Santos, J Valsecchi, HL De Queiroz, P Beja, e JM Palmeirim. 2009. Structuring of Amazonian bat assemblages: the roles of flooding patterns and floodwater nutrient load. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 78:1163-1171.
- Petchey, OL, e KJ Gaston. 2006. Functional diversity: back to basics and looking forward. *Ecology Letters* 9:741-758.
- Pla, L, F Casanoves, e J Di Rienzo. 2012. Functional diversity indices. Pages 27-51 Quantifying functional biodiversity. Springer, New York.
- Poulsen, BO. 2002. Avian richness and abundance in temperate Danish forests: tree variables important to birds and their conservation. *Biodiversity & Conservation* 11:1551–1566.
- Ramos Pereira, MJ, C Fonseca, e LM Aguiar. 2018. Loss of multiple dimensions of bat diversity under land-use intensification in the Brazilian Cerrado. *Hystrix, the Italian Journal of Mammalogy* 29:25-32.
- Ramos Pereira, MJ, JT Marques, J Santana, CD Santos, J Valsecchi, HL De Queiroz, P Beja, e JM Palmeirim. 2009. Structuring of Amazonian bat assemblages: the roles of flooding patterns and floodwater nutrient load. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 78:1163-1171.
- Reis, NR, AL Peracchi, CB Batista, IP de Lima, e AD Pereira. 2017. História Natural dos morcegos brasileiros: chave de identificação de espécies. Technical Books Editora, Rio de Janeiro.
- Rodrigues, LF, R Cintra, CV Castilho, OdS Pereira, e TP Pimentel. 2014. Influences of forest structure and landscape features on spatial variation in species composition in a palm community in central Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 30:565-578.
- Rojas-Ahumada, DP, VL Landeiro, e M Menin. 2012. Role of environmental and spatial processes in structuring anuran communities across a tropical rain forest. *Austral Ecology* 37:865-873.
- Schietti, J, T Emilio, CD Rennó, DP Drucker, FR Costa, A Nogueira, FB Baccaro, F Figueiredo, CV Castilho, e V Kinupp. 2014. Vertical distance from drainage drives floristic composition changes in an Amazonian rainforest. *Plant Ecology* & *Diversity* 7:241-253.
- Schnitzler, H-U, e EK Kalko. 2001. Echolocation by insect-eating bats. *Biosciense* 51:557–569.
- Siemers, BM, e SM Swift. 2005. Differences in sensory ecology contribute to resource partitioning in the bats Myotis bechsteinii and Myotis nattereri (Chiroptera: Vespertilionidae). *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 59:373-380.
- Silva, RMT. 2012. Efeito da obstrução gerada pela densidade da vegetação do sub-bosque sobre morcegos frugívoros e animalivoros catadores (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae) na Amazônia central, Brasil. Disertação( Biologia (Ecologia))-Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia.

- Simmons, NB, e RS Voss. 1998. The mammals of Paracou, French Guiana, a Neotropical lowland rainforest fauna. Part 1, Bats. Bulletin of the AMNH; no. 237
- Sleep, DJH, e RM Brigham. 2003. An experimental test of clutter tolerance in bats. *Journal of Mammalogy* 84:216-224.
- Stein, A, K Gerstner, e H Kreft. 2014. Environmental heterogeneity as a universal driver of species richness across taxa, biomes and spatial scales. *Ecol Lett* 17:866-880.
- Stevens, RD, CG López, e SJ Presley. 2007. Geographical ecology of Paraguayan bats: spatial integration and metacommunity structure of interacting assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 76:1086-1093.
- Stockwell, EF. 2001. Morphology and flight manoeuvrability in New World leaf-nosed bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae). *Journal of Zoology* 254:505-514.
- Swenson, NG. 2013. The assembly of tropical tree communities-the advances and shortcomings of phylogenetic and functional trait analyses. *Ecography* 36:264-276.
- Tews, J, U Brose, V Grimm, K Tielbörger, MC Wichmann, M Schwager, e F Jeltsch. 2003. Diversidade de espécies animais impulsionada pela heterogeneidade / diversidade de habitats: a importância das estruturas-chave. *Journal of Biogeography* 31:79-92.
- Toledo, JJ, CV Castilho, WE Magnusson, e HEM Nascimento. 2017. Soil controls biomass and dynamics of an Amazonian forest through the shifting of species and traits. *Brazilian Journal of Botany* 40:451-461.
- Tucker, CM, MW Cadotte, SB Carvalho, TJ Davies, S Ferrier, SA Fritz, R Grenyer, MR Helmus, LS Jin, e AO Mooers. 2017. A guide to phylogenetic metrics for conservation, community ecology and macroecology. *Biological Reviews* 92:698-715.
- Vane-Wright, RI, CJ Humphries, e PH Williams. 1991. What to protect?—Systematics and the agony of choice. *Biological Conservation* 55:235-254.
- Webb, CO. 2000. Exploring the phylogenetic structure of ecological communities: an example for rain forest trees. *The American Naturalist* 156:145-155.
- Webb, CO, DD Ackerly, MA McPeek, e MJ Donoghue. 2002. Phylogenies and community ecology. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 33:475-505.
- Williams, SE, H Marsh, e J Winter. 2002. Spatial scale, species diversity, and habitat structure: small mammals in Australian tropical rain forest. *Ecology* 83:1317-1329.
- Willig, MR, e SJ Presley. 2015. Biodiversity and metacommunity structure of animals along altitudinal gradients in tropical montane forests. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* 32:421-436.

# 5. ARTIGO CIENTÍFICO

# Bat diversity is driven by elevation and distance to the watercourse in *terra firme* forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon

Artigo submetido ao periódico "Journal of Tropical Ecology"

1	Bat diversity is driven by elevation and distance to the watercourse in terra firme
2	forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon
3	
4	Marcelo Martins Ferreira <sup>1,2</sup> , Bruna da Silva Xavier <sup>3</sup> , Paulo Estefano Dineli Bobrowiec <sup>4</sup> ,
5	Isaí Jorge de Castro <sup>5,4</sup> , Renato Hilário <sup>1,2</sup> , Alan Cavalcanti da Cunha <sup>1,6</sup> , Leidiane Leão de
6	Oliveira <sup>7</sup> , José Júlio de Toledo <sup>1,2</sup> , William Douglas Carvalho <sup>1,2,8</sup>
7	
8	1 – Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biodiversidade Tropical, Universidade Federal do
9	Amapá (UNIFAP), Rod. Juscelino Kubitscheck, km 2, Macapá - AP, 68903-419, Brazil.
10	2 - Laboratório de Ecologia, Departamento de Meio Ambiente e Desenvolvimento
11	(DMAD), UNIFAP, Rod. Juscelino Kubitscheck, km 2, Macapá - AP, 68903-419, Brazil
12	3 – Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia, Universidade Federal do Rio de Janeiro,
13	Avenida Carlos Chagas Filho, 373, 21941-971, Rio de Janeiro - RJ, Brazil.
14	4 - Programa de Pós-Graduação em Ecologia, Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da
15	Amazônia, Avenida André Araújo, 2.936, Manaus - AM, 69067-375, Brazil.
16	5 - Laboratório de Mamíferos, Instituto de Pesquisas Científicas e Tecnológicas do
17	Estado do Amapá, Rodovia JK, Km 10, Macapá - AP, 68912-250, Brazil.
18	6 - Laboratório de Recursos Hídricos e Saneamento Ambiental, Eng. Civil - DCET,
19	UNIFAP, Rod. Juscelino Kubitscheck, km 2, Macapá - AP, 68903-419, Brazil
20	7 - Instituto de Ciências e Tecnologia das Águas – ICTA, Universidade Federal do Oeste
21	do Pará, campus Santarém-PA.
22	8 - Programa de Pós-Graduação em Biodiversidade e Meio Ambiente, Universidade
23	Federal da Grande Dourados, Rodovia Dourados/Itahum, Km 12, Dourados - MS, 79804-
24	970, Brazil.

25

26	*Correspondent author: Marcelo Martins Ferreira <u>uthiramartins@gmail.com</u>
27	Rua Rio Branco, N° 700
28	Jardim dos Migrantes
29	Ji-paraná
30	RO
31	Brasil
32	CEP-76900654
33	
34	Running title: Bat diversity in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon
35	
36	Keywords: Chiroptera, environmental filter, functional diversity, phylogenetic
37	diversity, Phyllostomid bats, taxonomic diversity, topography, vegetation structure
38	
39	
40	
41	
42	
43	
44	
45	
46	
47	
48	
49	
50	

- **5.1. Abstract**

Here we investigate the effect of five explanatory variables: distance to the watercourse, terrain elevation, vegetation clutter, basal area, and canopy height on taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic  $\alpha$ -diversity, and predominance of some functional traits (body mass, wing morphology, and trophic level) of Phyllostomid bat assemblages in a terra firme forest, Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. We have sampled bats using mist nets in 15 permanent plots over 25 km<sup>2</sup> of continuous forest. We have captured 279 individuals belonging to 28 species with a total of 77,760 m<sup>2</sup> .h of sampling effort. Our results have showed that, in addition to increasing the richness of Phyllostomid bats as a function of distance to the nearest watercourse, the assemblage also changes, with more diverse taxonomic and functional groups in areas far to the watercourse. Furthermore, elevation positively affects species richness, and the basal area of the forest positively influences the average body mass of bats. Taken together, our results demonstrate that subtle variations in the environmental conditions of the same gradient at a local scale are sufficient to target the main components of the  $\alpha$ -diversity of bats in primary forests. 

- *,* ,

78

79 One of the main goals of ecology is to understand how environmental factor's 80 structure animal communities (Elton 2001; Guilherme et al. 2019; Lawton 1999; Leibold 81 1995; Magurran 2013; McGill et al. 2006). Different studies have tried to understand the 82 mechanisms that structure communities (Grinnell 1917; Levin 1992). Environmental 83 conditions, referring to niche theory, play an important role in the distribution of species 84 in a habitat through the environmental filtering of morphological, physiological, and 85 behavioral characteristics (Elton 2001; Keddy 1992; Rosenzweig 1987; Webb 2000), generating differences in taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic dimensions at different 86 87 scales (Baccaro et al. 2013; Carvalho et al. 2021; Guilherme et al. 2019; Poff 1997). 88 The relevance of different environmental characteristics, such as vegetation

89 structure, food availability, topography, and distance to the water, has been demonstrated 90 for amphibians and reptiles (Atauri & Lucio 2001; Fraga et al. 2011), birds (Bueno et al. 91 2012; Poulsen 2002), terrestrial mammals (Lees & Peres 2008; Williams et al. 2002), and 92 bats (Marciente et al. 2015; Pereira et al. 2019; Ramos Pereira et al. 2009). Among these 93 different groups of vertebrates, bats stand out, which have a high number of species and 94 feeding guilds (Emmons & Feer 1997; Kalko & Handley 2001; Kalko et al. 1996a; López-95 Baucells 2018; Reis et al. 2017; Simmons & Voss 1998; Voss & Emmons 1996), and are 96 very sensitive to environmental gradients (Capaverde et al. 2018; Carvalho et al. 2021; 97 Meyer et al. 2016; Stevens et al. 2007).

One of the regions with the greatest richness and diversity of bats in the world is the Amazon forest, which has at least 200 species described to date (López-Baucells 2018). In this tropical forest, topography and vegetation structure are already well documented as predictors of bat community structure (Bobrowiec & Tavares 2017; Carvalho *et al.* 2019; Marciente *et al.* 2015; Marques *et al.* 2012; Silva 2012). However,

103 several studies carried out in the region seeking to understand how ecological aspect's 104 structure bat assemblages are based on very different habitats: terra firme versus 105 floodplain (Bobrowiec et al. 2014), terra firme versus savannas versus campinaranas 106 (Carvalho et al. 2018), terra firme versus floodplain versus igapó (Ramos Pereira et al. 2009). In these cases, changes in species composition are abrupt due to the enormous 107 108 difference in the structure and species composition of the vegetation. On the other hand, 109 it is not well known how bat assemblages respond to finer changes in environmental 110 conditions within each habitat (Capaverde et al. 2018; Tews et al. 2003). It is possible 111 that more subtle variations of the same vegetation type can influence the diversity and 112 composition of bats at a local scale (Capaverde et al. 2018; Estrada-Villegas et al. 2012; 113 Ober & Hayes 2008). There are few studies that relate the composition and structure of 114 animal assemblages to environmental factors in the same continuous forest (Tews et al. 115 2003). In addition, there is still a huge gap in knowledge about the bat fauna in the 116 Amazon, as most of the studies carried out in this region are centered on a few areas, 117 generally with easier access, close to major urban centers such as Manaus, Belém or 118 Santarém (Delgado-Jaramillo et al. 2020). In general, these studies are focused on 119 epidemiological aspects (Costa et al. 2017; Filgueiras et al. 2019; Streicker & Allgeier 120 2016) and species inventories (Bernard & Fenton 2002; Sampaio et al. 2003), with few 121 studies analyzing the influence of food availability, vegetation structure, topography, and 122 proximity to water bodies on richness and taxonomic composition of bat (Bernard & 123 Valeria 2011; Capaverde et al. 2018; Marciente et al. 2015; Pereira et al. 2019). In 124 addition, to date, no study has simultaneously assessed the taxonomic, functional, and 125 phylogenetic dimensions of bat  $\alpha$ -diversity in a continuous forest gradient in Amazon.

126 Multidimensional approaches that incorporate species diversity, functional traits 127 and phylogenetic trees can increase the detectability of ecological patterns (McGill *et al.* 

128 2006) because the components of diversity can capture different variations in the 129 community. The mechanisms that give rise to variations in species richness may not be 130 the same ones responsible for the variation in functional and phylogenetic characteristics 131 (Cisneros et al. 2014). For example, Blanchet et al. (2014) demonstrated that the mean 132 annual water temperature and the distance of the river's upstream-downstream gradient 133 negatively affected the phylogenetic diversity of fish, while these same predictors 134 positively affected species richness. Graça et al. (2016) demonstrated that the relationship 135 between tropical butterflies and birds was evident when assessing the variation in 136 butterfly body size (functional component), but when analyzing species composition 137 (taxonomic component), there was no relationship. Therefore, the use of functional and 138 phylogenetic approaches, together with the taxonomic approach, provide more robust 139 information on the mechanisms that determine the variation in diversity along 140 environmental gradients (Cisneros et al. 2014; Freitas & Mantovani 2017).

141 In this study, we aim to distinguish how vegetation structure (vegetation clutter, 142 canopy height, and basal area), terrain elevation, and distance to the nearest watercourse 143 affect the three dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity (taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic) and 144 the predominance of some functional traits of the Phyllostomid bat assemblage in a 145 preserved terra firme forest area in the Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. We expect 146 vegetation clutter to be a physical barrier at the understory level for bats (Marciente et al. 147 2015), negatively affecting all dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity. Basal area is an indicator of 148 perches, shelter, and food availability (Aguirre et al. 2003; Carbone et al. 2013; Minor & 149 Kobe 2019). Because of this, we hope that an increase in its value will reflect positively 150 on the dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity. Tropical forests show considerable vertical variation in 151 plant extracts (Clark et al. 2008), temperature, humidity, and light (Parker et al. 1995) 152 from soil to canopy, and all this complexity of environmental factors generates different

153 strategies to take advantage of available resources (Bazzaz 1975). Therefore, considering 154 that vegetation structure is an important factor in the availability of shelter and food, we 155 expect an increase in the dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity in the higher parts of the terrain. In 156 addition, soils are sandier, waterlogged and poorly oxygenated in areas close to water 157 bodies, which limits the growth of many plant species, affecting the diversity of resources 158 such as food and shelter for bats in these regions (Costa et al. 2005; Toledo et al. 2017). 159 Due to these conditions, we expect a positive relationship between the distance from the 160 nearest watercourse and the dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity.

161 Regarding the functional traits of the bat assemblage, we expect higher values for 162 mean body mass, wing morphology (relative wing loading and wing aspect ratio) in 163 environments with fewer obstacles, which tend to have less vegetation clutter understory 164 obstruction, basal area, and a higher canopy. We also expect higher mean values for body 165 mass, wing aspect ratio and relative wing loading in lower parts and close to nearest 166 watercourses due to less vegetation clutter that favors bat navigation (Ober & Hayes 2008; 167 Sleep & Brigham 2003). Animalivorous bats have lower values for aspect and relative 168 wing loading (Marinello & Bernard 2014; Norberg & Fenton 1988), and these 169 characteristics make them to be more favored in environments with higher levels of 170 obstacles. Therefore, we expect a higher weight of bats at this trophic level in areas with 171 greater vegetation cluttering, basal area, and lower canopy height and in higher areas and 172 further away to watercourses, where vegetation is more obstructed (Oliveira et al. 2015). 173 On the other hand, phytophagous bats that are more generalists will have higher average 174 weight in less complex environments, less elevated areas and close to nearest 175 watercourses, due to the greater abundance of fruits in these areas (Margues *et al.* 2012).

176

177 **5.3. Methods** 

#### 178 **5.3.1. Study area**

179 The study was carried out in the Floresta Nacional do Amapá (FLONA of Amapá), 180 a conservation unit of sustainable use located in the extreme Northeast of the Brazilian 181 Amazon. FLONA of Amapá has 459,800 ha (Figure 1 - ICMBio 2016). The region's 182 climate is hot and humid, with temperatures ranging from 24 to 28 °C, and annual 183 precipitation ranging between 2,300 and 2,900 mm (Oliveira et al. 2010; Oliveira et al. 184 2020). The wet season, which lasts from February to May, concentrates 70% of the total annual precipitation, which can exceed 500 mm/month. The dry season (September to 185 186 November) concentrates 30% of annual precipitation and is characterized by <250 187 mm/month (Oliveira et al. 2010; Oliveira et al. 2020).

188 Most of the FLONA of Amapá is located at elevations between 50 and 160 m a.s.l 189 (ICMBio 2016), however in the Northwest and East portions, the elevation varies from 190 160 to 200 m a.s.l. The forest phytophysiognomy that makes up the FLONA of Amapá is 191 not homogeneous, the main types of vegetation are dense alluvial forest with uniform 192 canopy, dense ombrophilous forest with emerging canopy, dense ombrophilous forest 193 with emerging canopy, and dense ombrophilous forest with submontane canopy uniform, 194 with the last two being the most representative vegetation types in the region (ICMBio 195 2016).



196

Figure 1. Location of the study area in the state of Amapá, Brazil (a), southern part of the Amapá National
Forest (b), highlighting the 15 sampling points (grey squared) in the permanent plots (solid line) of the
Biodiversity Research Program (c).

200 **5.3.2. Bat sampling** 

201 Sampling was carried out in 15 permanent plots installed in a system of trails 202 established by the Brazilian Program for Research in Biodiversity (PPBio; 203 https://ppbio.inpa.gov.br/ - Figure 1). PPBio uses the RAPELD method (in Portuguese, 204 RAP = rapid assessment protocol; PELD = long-term ecological survey) for sampling 205 different biological groups (Magnusson et al. 2005). The trail system consists of 6 trails 206 in the East-West direction and 6 trails in the North-South direction, covering an area of 207 25 km<sup>2</sup>. The trails allow access to 30 permanent plots systematically distributed at 1 km 208 intervals on the East-West trails (Magnusson et al. 2013). The plots are 250 m long and 209 follow the ground level curve, thus minimizing internal variations in soil and topography. 210 The 15 plots were chosen to ensure the greatest variation in topography (elevation) and 211 vegetation structure (e.g. diameter and height of trees) and distance to nearest 212 watercourses (Figure 1).

35

213 We have visited each plot twice during the less rainy period in the Northeastern 214 Brazilian Amazon, between November 15th and December 2nd, 2017, and once in the 215 rainy season, between February 27th and March 7th, 2018. During each visit (sampling 216 night), we have captured bats using eight mist nets  $(12 \times 3 \text{ m in size and } 14 \text{ mm mesh})$ 217 per plot. The nets were set up 15 minutes before sunset (~18h:00) at ground level and 218 remained open for six hours (~00h:00), being inspected every 30 minutes (Carvalho et al. 219 2016). The sampling effort was dimensioned following recommendations by Straube and Bianconi (2002), reaching 5,184 m<sup>2</sup> .h per plot, totaling 77,760 m<sup>2</sup> .h. 220

221 After removing bats from the mist net, we have measured the length of the forearm 222 with a caliper and the body mass with a spring scale (Pesola brand and accuracy of 223  $\pm 0.3\%$ ). Afterwards, bats were identified in the field with the help of taxonomic keys and 224 descriptions (Lim & Engstrom 2001; López-Baucells 2018; Reis et al. 2013; Reis et al. 225 2017). Captured individuals were marked with a collar with individual identification 226 (Esbérard & Daemon 1999) and later released. We restricted our analyzes to bats of the 227 Phyllostomid ae family and the aerial insectivore Pteronotus sp. (family Mormoopidae), 228 because bats from other families are not commonly captured in ground-level mist nets 229 (Kalko et al. 1996a). All packages mentioned below were loaded in the R program, 230 version 3.6.1(R Development Core Team 2019).

231

#### 5.3.3. Forest structure

We have estimated the vegetation clutter using the point-of-intercept sampling method (Dias-Terceiro *et al.* 2015). This method consists of quantifying the number of direct contacts by leaves and branches on a 1.5 m long stick raised vertically to 50 cm above the ground (Bobrowiec & Tavares 2017; Dias-Terceiro *et al.* 2015). We counted the number of points that touched the stick every 2 m in a 100 m stretch located in the central track of the plot and in the same portion where the mist nets were installed. This
procedure to estimate the vegetation clutter was carried out in parallel with the mist nets, at a distance of 1 m, in order to minimize interferences caused by the removal of vegetation when the nets were placed. Thus, the vegetation clutter in each plot was represented by the total number of strokes on the stick over the 100 m.

Basal area (AB) and canopy height data were obtained through a vegetation structure inventory carried out previously in accordance with the protocol established by PPBio (Castilho *et al.* 2014). Trees with diameter at breast height (DBH)  $\geq$ 1 cm and < 30 cm were inventoried in an area of 2 x 250 m and trees  $\geq$  30 were sampled in an area and 40 x 250 m in the plots. DBH was measured at 1.3 m above ground or at 50 cm above tabular roots or trunk irregularities. The basal area of the plot was calculated by adding the basal area values derived from the DBH<sub>i</sub> of each tree, the following equation 1:

249 
$$AB = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left[ \pi \frac{DBHi}{2} \right]^2 \tag{1}$$

where AB is the basal area in m<sup>2</sup>. The calculation was performed for trees with  $1 \le DBH$  < 30 cm and  $DBH \ge 30$  cm separately (due to sampling in different area sizes) and the basal areas were multiplied by 20 and 1 (respectively), then added together to provide an estimate per hectare.

The total height (from the base of the trunk to the top of the crown) was measured with a laser hypsometer (TruPulse® 360) in 1,156 trees (1 – 109 cm DBH) selected in 5 plots. The height calculation was performed using the tangent method (Larjavaara & Muller-Landau 2013), using the distance and the lower and upper angles of the tree in relation to the operator. The relationship between total height and DBH was adjusted using the Michaelis Menten equation to generate an allometric model capable of predicting height using the equation 2:

261 
$$H = 51.1 \frac{DBHi}{(25.1+DBHi)}$$
(2)

262 The equation 2 was then used to estimate the total height of the inventoried trees and the

263 mean height was calculated to represent the canopy height of the plot as a function of

264 DBH.

280

and wing aspect ratio.

265 266	<b>5.3.4.</b> Terrain elevation and distance to the nearest watercourse We use the geographic coordinates of the initial part of each plot to determine its
267	position and thus obtain the elevation through a digital elevation model (DEM) from the
268	Topodata project available at <u>http://www.webmapit.com.br/inpe/topodata/</u> , derived from
269	the Shuttle Radar Topography Mission – STRM. The distances to the nearest watercourse
270	were measured from the location of the plots and the network of river channels generated
271	with the DEM data. Using Quantum GIS 3.6.3 software and data from river channel
272	networks (Fill sinks modules), we have calculated the shortest distance from the central
273	point of each plot to the closest point of the river channel.
274	

# 5.3.5. Functional traits We chose four functional traits that have been related to the distribution of bats in tropical forests (Castillo-Figueroa & Pérez-Torres 2021; Cisneros *et al.* 2014; Marciente *et al.* 2015). The traits were obtained based on data collected during the manipulation of bats and data from the literature, namely: body mass, trophic level, relative wing loading,

Bat size may be a determining factor in habitat use (Hanspach *et al.* 2012; Ramos Pereira *et al.* 2009). Large bats like *Artibeus lituratus* and *Phyllostomus hastatus* prefer to forage on larger fruits that occur in the tree canopy, whereas small bats like *Carollia* spp. prefer smaller fruits that are available in the lower forest strata (Kalko *et al.* 1996b; Marques *et al.* 2012; Rex *et al.* 2011; Saldaña-Vázquez *et al.* 2013; Schaefer *et al.* 2002; Shanahan & Compton (2001); Voigt 2010). Body mass was determined as the average of the body mass of adult individuals of each species captured.

Both the relative wing loading (division of body mass by the wing area) wing

289 aspect ratio (division of the square of the wingspan by the wing area) directly influence 290 the maneuverability, agility, and flight speed of bats (Norberg & Rayner 1987), being 291 important predictors of habitat use in foraging (Muller et al. 2012; Norberg & Rayner 292 1987). Bats that have a low relative loading and a lower wing aspect ratio perform better 293 for foraging in places with more obstacles (Marinello & Bernard 2014; Silva 2012). 294 Species with these characteristics have wings capable of producing the high curvature 295 necessary to maintain lift in low-speed flights, favoring success in environments with 296 higher levels of obstruction (Stockwell 2001). Bats that have a high relative wing charge 297 and a high wing aspect ratio have constant high-speed flights and low energy costs 298 (Norberg & Rayner 1987). These characteristics favor flights in less obstructed 299 environments and over long distances in search of food (Norberg & Rayner 1987). Values 300 for relative loading and wing appearance were obtained from Marinello andBernard 301 (2014).

Different animal trophic guilds are affected by the resource availability, and therefore these animals look for areas with better chances of finding available food (Capaverde *et al.* 2018; Carr & Macdonald 1986; MacArthur & Pianka 1966; Marciente *et al.* 2015; Marinello & Bernard 2014; Oliveira *et al.* 2015; Silva 2012). We classify bats into two trophic categories: animalivorous, which include insectivorous, carnivorous, and hematophagous bats, and phytophagous, which include frugivorous and nectarivorous bats (Giannini & Kalko 2004; Schnitzler *et al.* 2003).

- 309
- **5.3.6.** Alpha diversity
  We have quantified the taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic dimensions of αdiversity of bat assemblages sampled in each plot using Hill numbers (Chao *et al.* 2014a;
  Hill 1973). Hill numbers are defined by the *q* parameter, which reflects their respective
  sensitivity to relative species abundances, facilitating data comparison (Chiu & Chao

315 2014; Hill 1973; Roswell et al. 2021). Thus, as the q parameter increases, the diversity 316 index becomes more sensitive to common species and less dependent on rare species 317 (Chiu & Chao 2014). For Hill numbers, q = 0 equals species richness, as species 318 abundances are not considered, and for q = 2, dominant species receive greater weight 319 than rare species, representing the inverse of the dominance index by Simpson (Chiu & 320 Chao 2014; Daly et al. 2018; Li 2018a). Thus, for each plot, the taxonomic, functional, 321 and phylogenetic dimensions of  $\alpha$ -diversity were quantified considering the variation of the parameter q (q = 0, q = 2), through the 'hillR' package (Li 2018b). Specifically, the 322 323 taxonomic richness (q = 0) of each plot was estimated by constructing interpolated and 324 extrapolated species accumulation curves using the 'iNEXT' package in R (Chao et al. 325 2014b; Hsieh et al. 2016). Comparisons were made with a sample size of 15 individuals, 326 which is triple the size of the smallest sample. For functional diversity, Hill numbers 327 incorporate functional distances between pairs of species from the functional 328 characteristics of the species (Chao et al. 2019; Chiu & Chao 2014), while for 329 phylogenetic diversity, Hill numbers incorporate a phylogenetic tree (Li 2018b). For 330 phylogenetic diversity, we use a phylogenetic tree derived from a most current phylogeny 331 (Upham et al. 2019).

332

## 333 **5.3.7.** Community weighted indexes

The use of weighted indices by the relative abundances of the species allows 334 335 evaluating changes in the mean values of the characteristics of the 336 assemblage/community (Lavorel et al. 2008). We have used the Community Weighted 337 Mean (CWM), which is the predominance of functional traits of the bat assemblages of 338 each plot using a weighted average of the functional trait for the community. The CWM 339 allows accessing the average value of functional traits for the community (in our case, the 340 bat assemblage of each plot), weighting this value by the relative abundances of the

species in the sample in question (Lavorel *et al.* 2008). We estimate the CWM through
the 'BAT' package (Cardoso *et al.* 2021).

#### 343 **5.3.8. Data analysis**

We have evaluated the effect of vegetation clutter, terrain elevation, distance to 344 nearest watercourse, basal area, and canopy height on each of our response variables: 345 346 richness, taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic diversity, and CWM. For this, we use 347 Generalized Linear Models (GLM, Gaussian family). We selected models separately for 348 each q parameter (q = 0, q = 2) of  $\alpha$ -diversity and for CWM, with all possible 349 combinations of predictor variables. Model residuals were tested for normality (Shapiro 350 Wilks,  $p \ge 0.05$ ) and homoscedasticity (Breusch-Pagan test,  $p \ge 0.05$ ). Based on this, we 351 had to take the square root of the nearest watercourse distance explanatory variable in the 352 selection of models with the CWM of the animalivorous and phytophagous trophic levels 353 and square the average body mass response variable so that the residuals of the models 354 followed a normal distribution.

355 To identify the predictor variables with greater explanatory support on the 356 response variables, the generated models were selected considering the Akaike 357 information criterion, corrected for small samples (AICc - corrected Akaike Information 358 Criterion), where the best model was the one with the lowest value of AICc. (Burnham & 359 Anderson 1998). Thus, the models that presented  $\Delta AICc$  values < 2 were considered the 360 most supportive. Subsequently, we calculated the parameter estimates, importance and 361 the unconditional mean of the regression coefficients and their standard errors for each 362 predictor variable of the models with  $\Delta AICc < 2$ . The parameter estimates of the predictor 363 variables were only calculated for the model selections that they did not have the null 364 model as being the one with the greatest explanatory support ( $\Delta AICc = 0$ ). These 365 estimates and model selection were made using the "Multi-model inference" package 366 (MuMIn), version 1.40.0 (Barton 2018).

367

## 368 **6.** Results

We have captured 279 individuals belonging to 28 species and two families. The most captured species were *Rhinophylla pumilio* (46 individuals), *Artibeus planirostris* (44), *Artibeus lituratus* (31), and *Pteronotus* sp. (31). The species *R. pumilio* and *A. planirostris* represented 32% of all captured bats. Phytophagous bats were more captured (199 captures of 16 species) than animalivorous [80 captures of 12 species -(Supplementary Material – Table S1)].

# 6.1. Environmental factors driving richness and alpha diversity components Of the five predictor variables used for model selection, distance to the nearest watercourse was the most important predictor (0.64) for taxonomic richness (q = 0),

followed by elevation (0.36). Taxonomic richness increased with distance to the nearest watercourse and with elevation (Figure 2; Table 1). Taxonomic and functional diversity also increased with distance to the nearest watercourse (q = 2; Figure 2; Table 1), this being the most important predictor for taxonomic (0.62) and functional diversity (0.83). No predictor variable explained phylogenetic richness (q = 0; (Supplementary Material – Table S6)). For functional richness (q = 0) and phylogenetic diversity (q = 2), the null model had the greatest explanatory support (Supplementary Material – Tables S6 and S7)



**Figure 2.** Relationship between the variables selected as the best predictors for taxonomic richness (q = 0- a, b), taxonomic diversity (q = 2 - c), and functional diversity (q = 2 - d) in a community of Phyllostomid bats from the terra firme forest of Northern Brazilian Amazon. The straight line represents the model estimate and the gray area the 95% confidence interval.

# **6.2. Environmental factors that drive the predominance of functional traits**

391 For CWM, only body mass did not have the null model with greater explanatory 392 support ( $\Delta$ AICc < 2 - Supplementary Material – Table S8-S12)). For this functional trait, 393 basal area and vegetation clutter were considered with greater explanatory support, with 394 basal area being present in two of the best selected models (Supplementary Material – 395 Table S8)). The basal area was more important (0.76), while the importance of vegetation 396 clutter was (0.29) to predict the variation in mean body mass. However, there was a 397 significant relationship only between basal area and mean body mass (p = 0.05 – Table 398 1). Thus, areas occupied by a greater number of large trees tend to have bat species with399 greater mean body mass (Figure 3).



# 

401 Figure 3. Relationship between the mean body mass of Phyllostomid bat species (measured using the

 $402 \qquad \text{community weighted mean - CWM} \text{ and basal area in a terra firme forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon.}$ 

The straight line represents the model estimate and the gray area the 95% confidence interval.

**Table 1.** Estimates of parameters, standard error and unconditional regression coefficient (SE) of the set of models with  $\Delta AICc < 2$  related to predictor variables with taxonomic richness (q = 0), taxonomic diversity (q = 2), functional diversity (q = 2), and with the CWM of the mean body mass. The predictors that enter the models are distance from the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter– VCL.

Dependent variable	Predcitor	Estimattion	Standard error	SE	Z-value	p-value
Taxonomic richness ( $q = 0$ )	DNW	0,91	0,37	0,18	1,64	0,02
	ELE	0,83	0,39	0,07	1,59	0,05
Taxonomic diversity ( $q = 2$ )	DNW	0,95	0,47	0,03	1,87	0,06
Functional diversity $(q = 2)$	DNW	7,12	2,73	1,77	12,47	0,02
CWM - average body mass	BA	179,07	83,53	15,35	342,79	0,05
(g)	VCL	-128,17	80,68	- 286,30	29,96	0,15

418

#### 419 **7. Discussion**

We have found that terrain elevation and distance from the nearest watercourse are the predictors that drive the  $\alpha$ -diversity of bat assemblages in *terra firme* forest in the Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. Specifically, we observed that bat taxonomic richness was positively influenced by terrain elevation and distance to the nearest watercourse. In addition, taxonomic and functional diversity was positively influenced by the distance to the nearest watercourse. Across the Amazon basin, terrain elevation and distance to water bodies have been shown to be important predictors of the richness and taxonomic 427 composition of bats (Bobrowiec & Tavares 2017; Capaverde *et al.* 2018), terrestrial
428 mammals (Kinap *et al.* 2021; Michalski *et al.* 2015), understory birds (Bueno *et al.* 2012;
429 Cintra & Naka 2012; Oliveira *et al.* 2019), amphibians and reptiles (Fraga *et al.* 2011;
430 Rojas-Ahumada *et al.* 2012; Tavares *et al.* 2019), and plants (Drucker *et al.* 2008; Schietti
431 *et al.* 2014). Therefore, as occurs in the Southwest and Central Amazon, variations in
432 terrain elevation and distance to the water bodies are crucial for structuring bat
433 assemblages at small scales in *terra firme* forests in Northeastern Brazilian Amazonia.

434 We have found that the taxonomic richness of bats increases with terrain elevation. 435 Subtle variations (< 100 m) in terrain elevation have been shown to be fundamental for 436 the structuring of bat assemblages (Bobrowiec & Tavares 2017; Capaverde et al. 2018), 437 as terrain elevation has a direct influence on the hydrological and edaphic characteristics 438 of the soil, playing an important role in determining the composition of the plant 439 assemblage (Costa et al. 2008; Schietti et al. 2014). For example, in Central Amazon, the 440 richness and abundance of palm trees and shrubs (Kinupp & Magnusson 2005; Rodrigues 441 et al. 2014) and the structure of woody vegetation (Castilho et al. 2006) tend to increase 442 with elevation of the terrain. In addition, tall trees (>70 m) are more frequent in higher 443 terrain (>100 m a.s.l.) in lowland Amazonian forests (Gorgens et al. 2021). A more 444 complex forest provides more niches and different ways to harness environmental 445 resources (Bazzaz 1975), greater availability of food, shelter, and nesting sites (Tews et 446 al. 2003). Thus, forests in in higher elevation areas tend to have a greater frequency of 447 large trees, which produce greater structural complexity, increasing the number of 448 available niches and allowing more bat species to coexist.

The lower value of taxonomic and functional diversity found for areas closer to the watercourse may be due to the greater dominance of the frugivores *Rhinophylla pumilio*, *Artibeus planirostris*, *Artibeus lituratus* and the insectivore *Pteronotus* sp. in 452 these regions. These species represented 54% of the total captures. Soils are more sandy and poorly oxygenated in regions close to water bodies, which limits the growth of many 453 454 plant species in these regions (Costa et al. 2005; Pansonato et al. 2012; Rodrigues et al. 455 2014; Toledo et al. 2017). However, in the Amazon region, several plant species, 456 including pioneers such as Ficus, Cecropia, and Vismia manage to perpetuate under these 457 conditions (Ferreira 2000; Salo et al. 1986). Bats of the genera Artibeus and Rhinophylla 458 are known for their strong association with fruits of plants of these genera (Andrade et al. 459 2013; Giannini & Kalko 2004). In the FLONA of Amapá, during the present study, we 460 have observed a higher occurrence of Ficus spp., including fruiting, close to water 461 courses. In addition, natural erosion, and subsequent sediment deposition due to river 462 dynamics form sandbanks and create habitats of primary succession on riverbanks 463 (Peixoto et al. 2009). In these environments, the lesser competition for solar radiation and 464 the proximity to the water table, allows plants adapted to these conditions to allocate more 465 energy to fruit production (Van Schaik et al. 1993), consequently, plants of the genus 466 Ficus spp., Cecropia, Piper and Vismia on riverbanks offer a greater abundance of fruit 467 than in the forest interior (Margues et al. 2012). In addition to this fruit abundance for 468 frugivorous bats, habitats close to watercourses have a significant influence on insect 469 biomass and represent an important foraging habitat for many insectivorous bats (Fukui 470 et al. 2006; Hagen & Sabo 2011,2014; Holloway & Barclay 2000). Thus, all this 471 abundance of food for the bats R. pumilio, A. planirostris, A. lituratus, and Pteronotus sp. 472 in areas close to the watercourse, it may have contributed to the increase in the number of individuals of these species, reducing the Simpson diversity values (q = 2), which in 473 474 turn is an index more sensitive to dominant species (Chiu & Chao 2014).

475 In addition to the increased dominance of a few species close to the watercourses,476 the decrease in taxonomic richness may be one of the factors responsible for the lower

taxonomic diversity in these locations. The conditions that favor the dominance of some
species (e.g. high abundance of some food resources, less dense undergrowth) close to
watercourses may disfavor the existence of some species dependent on this forest extract
(Oliveira *et al.* 2015), reducing the taxonomic richness. Locations away from
watercourses may not have a great abundance of certain resources, but they may contain
a greater diversity of them, contemplating a greater number of bat species

483 Contrary to our expectations, only one functional trait of the bat assemblages was 484 influenced by environmental variables. The average body mass weighted by abundance 485 was higher in areas that had a larger basal area. Larger trees have a greater ability to 486 acquire and store nutrients and carbohydrates (Carbone et al. 2013) and tend to produce 487 more fruits (Minor & Kobe 2019). Thus, this greater availability of fruits reflects in a 488 greater biomass of primary consumers, such as bats (Ramos Pereira et al. 2009). In 489 addition, bat size can be an important and limiting criterion in habitat use (Hanspach et 490 al. 2012; Stockwell 2001). For example, locomotion through flight requires bat species 491 high rates of energy expenditure during foraging (Norberg & Rayner 1987; Voigt & 492 Holderied 2012) and larger bats have a higher absolute energy demand (Brown et al. 493 2004; Winter & Von Helversen 1998). Therefore, larger bats are more favored when 494 foraging in regions where the trees have a larger basal area, as the energy costs incurred 495 by the flight activity are offset by the greater availability of food in these regions.

Despite the low number of captures, compared to other studies carried out in *terra firme* forest Capaverde *et al.* (2018); Carvalho *et al.* (2018) and Marciente *et al.* (2015), our multidimensional approach proved to be efficient to understand the effect of environmental filters on the distribution of bats in this Amazon ecosystem. Overall, our study supports the hypothesis that variations in environmental factors in the same forest habitat are sufficient to structure bat assemblages. Specifically, we show that increasing 502 distance to the nearest watercourse and small variations (< 50 m a.s.l) in the elevation 503 exerts a positive effect on the different components of the  $\alpha$ -diversity of bats in *terra firme* 504 forest. Furthermore, only the average body mass stood out among the functional traits of 505 the bat assemblage (CWM), showing an association with the basal area of the forest.

- 506
- 507

# 7.1. Implications for conservation

508 Our study demonstrated that there is an increase in taxonomic and functional 509 diversity due to the increase in distance (up to 600 m) in relation to the nearest 510 watercourse. Brazilian environmental legislation only protects 30 m from the riparian 511 strip in streams <10 m wide (Brasil 2012). Therefore, if we consider our results, the 512 minimum strip of 30 m left on each side of the streams as Areas of Permanent Preservation 513 may not be sufficient for the preservation of different species of bats and, consequently, 514 of the ecosystem services provided by the group (e.g. seed dispersal). We have also found 515 a positive relationship between the mean body mass of bats and the basal area of trees, 516 which could be a variable to be considered in future management plans for selective 517 logging. Due to the increase in human population, and with it the increased demand for 518 timber resources (Kraxner et al. 2013), tropical forests are being degraded at an alarming 519 rate by selective logging (Asner et al. 2005; Hansen et al. 2013; Lindquist et al. 2012). 520 In Brazil, the current government has tried to make the bidding model and contracts for 521 forest concessions more flexible to make the process faster and more attractive 522 (Menegassi 2021). For example, the FLONA of Amapá started a process for logging in 523 an area of 226,000 hectares, which corresponds to almost half of this conservation unit 524 (Serviço Florestal Brasileiro 2019,2020). Therefore, it is necessary to promote forest 525 management plans that prioritize the preservation of biological and physical elements 526 such as large trees, which are the focus of current exploration, as well as hollow and dead 527 trees, which are crucial for the supply of food, perches, and shelters for the bat fauna.

528	8.	Acknowledgments
	•••	

528 529	8. Acknowledgments MMF and WDC were supported, respectively, by master scholarships and post-
530	doctoral (PNPD/CAPES) of the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível
531	Superior (CAPES), Brazil. We thank Gustavo Silveira, Cledinaldo Marques, Cremilson
532	Marques, Raimundão and Dona Vita for their help in sampling and logistics for carrying
533	out activities in the field. We also thank Instituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da
534	Biodiversidade (ICMBio) for the logistical help and permissions to carry out this study.
535	
536	Competing interests declaration
537	The author(s) declare none
538	
539	
540	
541	
542	
543	
544	
545	
546	
547	
548	
549	
550	
551	
552	

553 9. References

- 556 Aguirre LF, Lens L & Matthysen E (2003) Patterns of roost use by bats in a neotropical
- savanna: implications for conservation. *Biological Conservation* **111**, 435-443.
- 558 Andrade TY, Thies W, Rogeri PK, Kalko EKV & Mello MAR (2013) Hierarchical
- 559 fruit selection by Neotropical leaf-nosed bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae). Journal of
- 560 *Mammalogy* **94,** 1094-1101.
- 561 Asner GP, Knapp DE, Broadbent EN, Oliveira PJC, Keller M & Silva JN (2005)
- 562 Selective logging in the Brazilian Amazon. *Science* **310**, 480-482.
- 563 Atauri JA & Lucio JV (2001) The role of landscape structure in species richness
- distribution of birds, amphibians, reptiles and lepidopterans in Mediterranean landscapes.
- 565 *Landscape Ecology* **16**, 147–159.
- 566 Baccaro FB, Rocha IF, del Aguila BEG, Schietti J, Emilio T, Pinto JLPV, Lima AP
- 567 & Magnusson WE (2013) Changes in ground-dwelling ant functional diversity are
- 568 correlated with water-table level in an Amazonian terra firme forest. *Biotropica* **45**, 755-
- 569 763.
- 570 Barton K (2018) MuMIn: Multi-model inference, version 1.7.2/r75. Available at
- 571 <u>https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/MuMIn/MuMIn.pdf</u>
- 572 Bazzaz FA (1975) Plant species diversity in old-field successional ecosystems in
- 573 southern Illinois. *Ecology* **56**, 485-488.
- 574 Bernard E & Fenton MB (2002) Species diversity of bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera) in
- 575 forest fragments, primary forests, and savannas in central Amazonia, Brazil. Canadian
- 576 *Journal of Zoology* **80**, 1124-1140.
- 577 Bernard E & Valeria DCT (2011) Updated compilation of bat species (Chiroptera) for
- 578 the Brazilian Amazonia. *Biota Neotropica* **11**, 35-46.

- Blanchet S, Helmus MR, Brosse S & Grenouillet G (2014) Regional vs local drivers
- of phylogenetic and species diversity in stream fish communities. *Freshwater Biology* 59,
  450-462.
- 582 Bobrowiec PED, Rosa LS, Gazarini J & Haugaasen T (2014) Phyllostomid bat
- assemblage structure in Amazonian flooded and unflooded forests. *Biotropica* **46**, 312-
- 584 321.

- 585 **Bobrowiec PED & Tavares VDC** (2017) Establishing baseline biodiversity data prior
- to hydroelectric dam construction to monitoring impacts to bats in the Brazilian Amazon.
- 587 *PLoS One* **12**, e0183036.
- 588 Brasil (2012) Código Florestal Brasileiro–LEI Nº 12.651. Presidência da República Casa
- 589 Civil Subchefia para Assuntos Jurídicos, DF-Brasil
- 590 Brown JH, Gillooly JF, Allen AP, Savage VM & West GB (2004) Toward a metabolic
- 591 theory of ecology. *Ecology* **85**, 1771-1789.
- 592 Bueno AS, Bruno RS, Pimentel TP, Sanaiotti TM & Magnusson WE (2012) The
- 593 width of riparian habitats for understory birds in an Amazonian forest. Ecological
- 594 *Applications* **22**, 722-734.
- 595 Burnham KP & Anderson DR (1998) Model selection and inference: a practical
- 596 *information-theoretical approach*. New York: Springel-Verlag, 373 pp.
- 597 Capaverde UDJ, Pereira GA, Tavares VdC, Magnusson WE, Baccaro FB &
- 598 Bobrowiec PED (2018) Subtle changes in elevation shift bat-assemblage structure in
- 599 Central Amazonia. *Biotropica* **50**, 674-683.
- 600 Carbone MS, Czimczik CI, Keenan TF, Murakami PF, Pederson N, Schaberg PG,
- 601 Xu X & Richardson AD (2013) Age, allocation and availability of nonstructural carbon
- in mature red maple trees. *New Phytologist* **200**, 1145-1155.

603 Cardoso P, Mammola S, Rigal F & Carvalho J (2021) BAT: Biodiversity Assessment

- 604 Tools. Available at https://cran.r-project.org/web/packages/BAT/BAT.pdf
- 605 Carr G & Macdonald D (1986) The sociality of solitary foragers: a model based on
  606 resource dispersion. *Animal Behaviour* 34, 1540-1549.
- 607 Carvalho WD, Gomes LAC, Castro IJD, Martins AC, Esbérard CEL & Mustin K
- 608 (2018) Beyond the Amazon Forest: Richness and Abundance of Bats in the Understory
- of Savannahs, Campinaranas and Terra Firme Forest. *Acta Chiropterologica* 20, 407–
  419.
- 611 Carvalho WD, Martins MA, Esbérard CEL & Palmeirim JM (2019) Traits that allow
- bats of tropical lowland origin to conquer mountains: Bat assemblages along elevational
- 613 gradients in the South American Atlantic Forest. *Journal of Biogeography* **46**, 316-331.

614 Carvalho WD, Mustin K, Farneda FZ, Castro IJ, Hilário RR, Martins ACM, Miguel

- 615 JD, Xavier BS & Toledo JJ (2021) Taxonomic, functional and phylogenetic bat
- diversity decrease from more to less complex natural habitats in the Amazon. (Manuscriptaccepted for publication). *Oecologia*
- 618 Carvalho WD, Norris D & Michalski F (2016) Opportunistic predation of a Common
  619 Scale-backed Antbird (Willisornis poecilinotus) by a Goliath bird-eating spider
  620 (Theraphosa blondi) in the Eastern Brazilian Amazon. *Studies on Neotropical Fauna and*
- 621 *Environment* **51**, 239-241.

# 622 Castilho CV, Magnusson WE, de Araújo RNO, Luizao RC, Luizao FJ, Lima AP &

623 Higuchi N (2006) Variation in aboveground tree live biomass in a central Amazonian

624 Forest: Effects of soil and topography. *Forest Ecology and Management* **234**, 85-96.

## 625 Castilho CV, Schietti J, Freitas MA, Araújo MC, Coelho F, Magnusson WE & Costa

626 FRC (2014) Manual para Medição e Marcação de Árvores em grades e módulos

- 627 *RAPELD do PPBio*. Manaus: Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas Amazônicas (INPA), 22
  628 pp.
- 629 Castillo-Figueroa D & Pérez-Torres J (2021) On the development of a trait-based
  630 approach for studying Neotropical bats. *Papéis Avulsos de Zoologia* 61, e20216124.
- 631 Chao A, Chiu C-H & Jost L (2014a) Unifying species diversity, phylogenetic diversity,
- 632 functional diversity, and related similarity and differentiation measures through Hill
- numbers. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* **45**, 297-324.
- 634 Chao A, Chiu C-H, Villéger S, Sun I-F, Thorn S, Lin Y-C, Chiang J-M & Sherwin
- 635 WB (2019) An attribute-diversity approach to functional diversity, functional beta
- diversity, and related (dis) similarity measures. *Ecological Monographs* **89**, e01343.
- 637 Chao A, Gotelli NJ, Hsieh TC, Sander EL, Ma KH, Colwell RK & Ellison AM
- 638 (2014b) Rarefaction and extrapolation with Hill numbers: a framework for sampling and
- 639 estimation in species diversity studies. *Ecological Monographs* **84**, 45-67.
- 640 Chiu C-H & Chao A (2014) Distance-based functional diversity measures and their
- 641 decomposition: a framework based on Hill numbers. *PLoS One* 9, e100014.
- 642 Cintra R & Naka LN (2012) Spatial variation in bird community composition in relation
- 643 to topographic gradient and forest heterogeneity in a central Amazonian rainforest.
- 644 International Journal of Ecology 2012, 25.
- 645 Cisneros LM, Burgio KR, Dreiss LM, Klingbeil BT, Patterson BD, Presley SJ &
- 646 Willig MR (2014) Multiple dimensions of bat biodiversity along an extensive tropical
- 647 elevational gradient. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **83**, 1124-1136.
- 648 Clark DB, Olivas PC, Oberbauer SF, Clark DA & Ryan MG (2008) First direct
- 649 landscape-scale measurement of tropical rain forest Leaf Area Index, a key driver of
- 650 global primary productivity. *Ecology Letters* **11**, 163-172.

- 652 the mesoscale distribution patterns of palms in a central amazonian forest. Journal of
- 653 *Vegetation Science* **20**, 1-10.
- 654 Costa FRC, Magnusson WE & Luizao RC (2005) Mesoscale distribution patterns of
- 655 Amazonian understorey herbs in relation to topography, soil and watersheds. *Journal of*
- 656 *Ecology* **93**, 863-878.
- 657 Costa LJC, Martorelli LFA, Barone GT, Rosa EST, Vasconcelos PFC, Pereira AS
- 658 & Fernandes MEB (2017) Seroprevalence of rabies virus antibodies in bats from high
- 659 risk areas in Brazilian Amazonia between 2013 and 2015. Transactions of The Royal
- 660 Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene **111**, 363-369.
- Daly AJ, Baetens JM & De Baets B (2018) Ecological diversity: measuring the
  unmeasurable. *Mathematics* 6, 119.
- 663 Delgado-Jaramillo M, Aguiar LMS, Machado RB & Bernard E (2020) Assessing the
- distribution of a species-rich group in a continental mega-diverse country: bats in Brazil.
- 665 *Diversity and Distributions* **26**, 632-643.
- 666 Dias-Terceiro RG, Kaefer IL, de Fraga R, de Araújo MC, Simões PI & Lima AP
- 667 (2015) A matter of scale: historical and environmental factors structure anuran 668 assemblages from the Upper Madeira River, Amazonia. *Biotropica* **47**, 259-266.
- 669 Drucker DP, Costa FRC & Magnusson WE (2008) How wide is the riparian zone of
- 670 small streams in tropical forests? A test with terrestrial herbs. Journal of Tropical Ecology
- 671 **24,** 65-74.
- 672 Elton CS (2001) Animal ecology. University of Chicago Press, 296 pp.
- 673 Emmons LH & Feer F (1997) Neotropical rainforest mammals: A Field Guide.
- 674 University of Chicago Press, Chicago, Illinois, USA, 307 pp.

675 Esbérard C & Daemon C (1999) Um novo método para marcação de morcegos.
676 *Chiroptera Neotropical* 5, 116-117.

Estrada-Villegas S, McGill BJ & Kalko EKV (2012) Climate, habitat, and species
interactions at different scales determine the structure of a Neotropical bat community. *Ecology* 93, 1183-1193.

Ferreira LV (2000) Effects of flooding duration on species richness, floristic composition and forest structure in river margin habitat in Amazonian blackwater floodplain forests: implications for future design of protected areas. *Biodiversity & Conservation* 9, 1-14.

684 Filgueiras A, da Silva BJH, Xavier SCC, de Souza SF, dos Santos ML, Ribeiro VMF,

585 Jansen AM & Roque ALR (2019) Natural Trypanosoma (Trypanozoon) evansi (Steel,

1885) infection among mammals from Brazilian Amazon. *Acta Tropica* **190**, 92-98.

687 Fraga R, Lima AP & Magnusson WE (2011) Mesoscale spatial ecology of a tropical

snake assemblage: the width of riparian corridors in Central Amazonia. *Herpetological Journal* 21, 51-57.

690 Freitas JR & Mantovani W (2017) An overview of the applicability of functional

691 diversity in Biological Conservation. *Brazilian Journal of Biology* **78**, 517-524.

692 Fukui DAI, Murakami M, Nakano S & Aoi T (2006) Effect of emergent aquatic insects

693 on bat foraging in a riparian forest. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **75**, 1252-1258.

694 Giannini NP & Kalko EKV (2004) Trophic structure in a large assemblage of

695 Phyllostomid bats in Panama. *Oikos* **105**, 209-220.

696 Gorgens EB, Nunes MH, Jackson T, Coomes D, Keller M, Reis CR, Valbuena R,

697 Rosette J, de Almeida DRA & Gimenez B (2021) Resource availability and disturbance

shape maximum tree height across the Amazon. *Global Change Biology* 27, 177-189.

- 700 Combining taxonomic and functional approaches to unravel the spatial distribution of an
- Amazonian butterfly community. *Environmental Entomology* **45**, 301-309.
- 702 Grinnell J (1917) Field tests of theories concerning distributional control. The American
- 703 *Naturalist* **51**, 115-128.

# 704 Guilherme DR, Souza JLP, Franklin E, Pequeno PACL, das Chagas AC & Baccaro

- 705 **FB** (2019) Can environmental complexity predict functional trait composition of ground-
- dwelling ant assemblages? A test across the Amazon Basin. Acta Oecologica 99, 103434.
- 707 Hagen EM & Sabo JL (2011) A landscape perspective on bat foraging ecology along
- rivers: does channel confinement and insect availability influence the response of bats to
- aquatic resources in riverine landscapes? *Oecologia* **166**, 751-760.
- 710 Hagen EM & Sabo JL (2014) Temporal variability in insectivorous bat activity along
- 711 two desert streams with contrasting patterns of prey availability. Journal of Arid
- 712 Environments **102**, 104-112.
- 713 Hansen MC, Potapov PV, Moore R, Hancher M, Turubanova SA, Tyukavina A,
- 714 Thau D, Stehman SV, Goetz SJ & Loveland TR (2013) High-resolution global maps
- 715 of 21st-century forest cover change. *Science* **342**, 850-853.
- 716 Hanspach J, Fischer J, Ikin K, Stott J & Law BS (2012) Using trait-based filtering as
- 717 a predictive framework for conservation: a case study of bats on farms in southeastern
- 718 Australia. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **49**, 842-850.
- Hill MO (1973) Diversity and evenness: a unifying notation and its consequences. *Ecology* 54, 427-432.
- 721 Holloway GL & Barclay RM (2000) Importance of prairie riparian zones to bats in
- southeastern Alberta. *Ecoscience* **7**, 115-122.

Hsieh TC, Ma KH & Chao A (2016) iNEXT: an R package for rarefaction and
extrapolation of species diversity (H ill numbers). *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 7,
1451-1456.

726 Icmbio (2016) Plano de manejo da Floresta Nacional do Amapá. Volume I, dignostico.

727 Intituto Chico Mendes de Conservação da Biodiversidade (ICMBio)-Unidades de

728 Conservação, Macapá-Ap, 113 pp.

729 Kalko EK & Handley CO (2001) Neotropical bats in the canopy: diversity, community

structure, and implications for conservation. *Plant Ecology* **153**, 319-333.

731 Kalko EKV, Handley C & Handley D. 1996a. Chapter 16: Organization, diversity, and

732 long-term dynamics of a Neotropical bat community. In Cody, ML & Smallwood, JA

733 (eds.), Long-term studies of vertebrate communities. Los Angeles: Academic Press, 503-

734 553.

735 Kalko EKV, Herre EA & Handley Jr CO (1996b) Relation of fig fruit characteristics

to fruit-eating bats in the New and Old World Tropics. *Journal of Biogeography* 23, 565-

737 576.

Keddy PA (1992) Assembly and response rules: two goals for predictive community
ecology. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 3, 157-164.

740 Kinap NM, Nagy-Reis M, Bobrowiec PED, Gordo M & Spironello WR (2021)

741 Influence of topography gradient and seasonality on primate habitat use in Central

742 Amazonia. *Mammalian Biology* **101**, 1-9.

743 Kinupp VF & Magnusson WE (2005) Spatial patterns in the understorey shrub genus

744 Psychotria in central Amazonia: effects of distance and topography. Journal of Tropical

745 *Ecology* **21**, 363-374.

- 746 Kraxner F, Nordström E-M, Havlík P, Gusti M, Mosnier A, Frank S, Valin H, Fritz
- 747 S, Fuss S & Kindermann G (2013) Global bioenergy scenarios–Future forest
  748 development, land-use implications, and trade-offs. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 57, 86-96.
- 749 Larjavaara M & Muller-Landau HC (2013) Measuring tree height: a quantitative
- comparison of two common field methods in a moist tropical forest. Methods in Ecology
- 751 *and Evolution* **4**, 793–801.
- 752 Lavorel S, Grigulis K, McIntyre S, Williams NSG, Garden D, Dorrough J, Berman
- 753 S, Quétier F, Thébault A & Bonis A (2008) Assessing functional diversity in the field-
- 754 methodology matters! *Functional Ecology* **22**, 134-147.
- 755 Lawton JH (1999) Are there general laws in ecology? *Oikos* 177-192.
- 756 Lees AC & Peres CA (2008) Conservation value of remnant riparian forest corridors of
- varying quality for amazonian birds and mammals. *Conservation Biology* **22**, 439-449.
- 758 Leibold MA (1995) The niche concept revisited: mechanistic models and community
- 759 context. *Ecology* **76**, 1371-1382.
- 760 Levin SA (1992) The problem of pattern and scale in ecology: the Robert H. MacArthur
- 761 award lecture. *Ecology* **73**, 1943-1967.
- 762 Li D (2018a) hillR: taxonomic, functional, and phylogenetic diversity and similarity
- through Hill Numbers. *Journal of Open Source Software* **3**, 1041.
- 764 Li D (2018b) Package 'hillR' versão 0.5.0. Available at <u>https://cran.r-</u>
  765 project.org/web/packages/hillR/hillR.pdf
- 766 Lim BK & Engstrom MD (2001) Species diversity of bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera) in
- 767 Iwokrama Forest, Guyana, and the Guianan subregion: implications for conservation.
- 768 Biodiversity & Conservation 10, 613-657.
- 769 Lindquist EJ, D'Annunzio R, Gerrand A, MacDicken K, Achard F, Beuchle R,
- 770 Brink A, Eva HD, Mayaux P & San-Miguel-Ayanz J (2012) Global forest land-use

- *change 1990-2005.* Rome: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations(FAO), 59 pp.
- 1773 López-Baucells A (2018) Field guide to the bats of the Amazon. Manaus: Instituto
  1774 Nacional de Pesquisas Amazonicas (INPA), 176 pp.
- 775 MacArthur RH & Pianka ER (1966) On optimal use of a patchy environment. The
- 776 *American Naturalist* **100,** 603-609.
- 777 Magnusson WE, Braga-Neto R, Pezzini F, Baccaro F, Bergallo H, Penha J,
- 778 Rodrigues D, Lima AP, Albernaz A & Hero JM (2013) Biodiversity and integrated
- 779 environmental monitoring (Biodiversidade e monitoramento ambiental integrado). Santo
- 780 André: Áttema Editorial, 352 pp.
- 781 Magnusson WE, Lima AP, Luizão R, Luizão F, Costa FRC, Castilho CV & Kinupp
- 782 VF (2005) RAPELD: a modification of the Gentry method for biodiversity surveys in
- 783 long-term ecological research sites. *Biota Neotropica* **5**, 19-24.
- 784 Magurran AE (2013) Measuring biological diversity. John Wiley & Sons, 266 pp.
- 785 Marciente R, Bobrowiec PED & Magnusson WE (2015) Ground-Vegetation Clutter
- 786 Affects Phyllostomid Bat Assemblage Structure in Lowland Amazonian Forest. PLoS
- 787 *One* **10**, e0129560.
- 788 Marinello MM & Bernard E (2014) Wing morphology of Neotropical bats: a
- 789 quantitative and qualitative analysis with implications for habitat use. Canadian Journal
- 790 of Zoology **92**, 141-147.
- 791 Marques JT, Ramos Pereira MJ & Palmeirim JM (2012) Availability of Food for
- 792 Frugivorous Bats in Lowland Amazonia: The Influence of Flooding and of River Banks.
- 793 *Acta Chiropterologica* **14**, 183-194.
- 794 McGill BJ, Enquist BJ, Weiher E & Westoby M (2006) Rebuilding community
- recology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **21**, 178-185.

797 entenda as prioridades de Bolsonaro para 2021. Available at
798 https://www.oeco.org.br/author/duda/

**Menegassi D** (2021) Mineração em Terras Indígenas, regularização fundiária e mais,

- 799 Meyer CF, Struebig MJ & Willig MR. 2016. Responses of tropical bats to habitat
- 800 fragmentation, logging, and deforestation. Bats in the anthropocene: Conservation of bats
- 801 *in a changing world*. Springer, Cham, 63-103.

- 802 Michalski LJ, Norris D, de Oliveira TG & Michalski F (2015) Ecological relationships
- 803 of meso-scale distribution in 25 neotropical vertebrate species. *PLoS One* **10**, e0126114.
- 804 Minor DM & Kobe RK (2019) Fruit production is influenced by tree size and size-
- asymmetric crowding in a wet tropical forest. *Ecology and Evolution* **9**, 1458-1472.
- 806 Muller J, Mehr M, Bassler C, Fenton MB, Hothorn T, Pretzsch H, Klemmt HJ &
- 807 Brandl R (2012) Aggregative response in bats: prey abundance versus habitat. *Oecologia*808 169, 673-684.
- Norberg UM & Fenton MB (1988) Carnivorous bats? *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 33, 383-394.
- 811 Norberg UM & Rayner JMV (1987) Ecological morphology and flight in bats
- 812 (Mammalia; Chiroptera): wing adaptations, flight performance, foraging strategy and
- 813 echolocation. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. B: Biological
- 814 Sciences **316**, 335-427.
- 815 **Ober HK & Hayes JP** (2008) Influence of vegetation on bat use of riparian areas at 816 multiple spatial scales. *Journal of Wildlife Management* **72**, 396-404.
- 817 Oliveira Jd, Almeida SM, Florencio FP, Pinho JB, Oliveira DMM, Ligeiro R &
- 818 Rodrigues DJ (2019) Environmental structure affects taxonomic diversity but not
- 819 functional structure of understory birds in the southwestern Brazilian Amazon. Acta
- 820 Amazonica 49, 232-241.

- 821 Oliveira L, Cunha AC, Souza EB, Cunha HFA, Jesus ES & Barreto NJC (2010)
- 822 Características Hidroclimáticas da Bacia do Rio Araguari (AP). In: Tempo, clima e
- 823 recursos hídricos: resultados do Projeto REMETAP no Estado do Amapá. Macapá:
- 824 Instituto de Pesquisas Científicas e Tecnológicas do Estado do Amapá (IEPA), 83-88 pp.
- 825 Oliveira LL, Canani LGC, Barreto NJC & Cunha AC (2020) Water ecosystem
- 826 services in an undisturbed forest in the Amazon, Amapá, Brazil. *Nature and Conservation*
- 827 **13,** 45-54.
- 828 Oliveira LQ, Marciente R, Magnusson WE & Bobrowiec PED (2015) Activity of the
- 829 insectivorous bat Pteronotus parnellii relative to insect resources and vegetation structure.
- 830 Journal of Mammalogy 96, 1036-1044.
- Pansonato MP, Costa FRC, Castilho CV, Carvalho FA & Zuquim G (2012) Spatial
  scale or amplitude of predictors as determinants of the relative importance of
  environmental factors to plant community structure. *Biotropica* 45, 299-307.
- 834 Parker GG, Lowman MD & Nadkarni NM (1995) Forest canopies (Physiological
  835 Ecology). Springer.
- Peixoto JMA, Nelson BW & Wittmann F (2009) Spatial and temporal dynamics of
  river channel migration and vegetation in central Amazonian white-water floodplains by
  remote-sensing techniques. *Remote Sensing of Environment* 113, 2258-2266.
- 839 Pereira LGA, Capavede Jr UD, Tavares dCV, Magnusson WE, Bobrowiec PED &
- 840 Baccaro FB (2019) From a bat's perspective, protected riparian areas should be wider
- than defined by Brazilian laws. *Journal of Environmental Management* 232, 37-44.
- 842 **Poff NL** (1997) Landscape filters and species traits: towards mechanistic understanding
- and prediction in stream ecology. Journal of the North American Benthological Society
- 844 **16,** 391-409.

- Poulsen BO (2002) Avian richness and abundance in temperate Danish forests: tree
  variables important to birds and their conservation. *Biodiversity & Conservation* 11,
  1551–1566.
- 848 **R Development Core Team** (2019) *R: A language and environment for statistical*
- 849 computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available at
   850 https://www.r-project.org/
- 851 Ramos Pereira MJ, Marques JT, Santana J, Santos CD, Valsecchi J, De Queiroz
- 852 HL, Beja P & Palmeirim JM (2009) Structuring of Amazonian bat assemblages: the
- roles of flooding patterns and floodwater nutrient load. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **78**,
- 854 1163-1171.
- Reis NR, Fregonezi MN, Peracchi AL & Shibatta OA (2013) Morcegos do Brasil: *guia de campo*. Rio de Janeiro: Technical Books Editora, 252 pp.
- 857 Reis NR, Peracchi AL, Batista CB, de Lima IP & Pereira AD (2017) História Natural
- 858 dos morcegos brasileiros: chave de identificação de espécies. Rio de Janeiro: Technical
- 859 Books Editora, 416 pp.
- 860 Rex K, Michener R, Kunz TH & Voigt CC (2011) Vertical stratification of Neotropical
- 861 leaf-nosed bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae) revealed by stable carbon isotopes. Journal
- 862 *of Tropical Ecology* **27,** 211-222.
- 863 Rodrigues LF, Cintra R, Castilho CV, Pereira OdS & Pimentel TP (2014) Influences
- 864 of forest structure and landscape features on spatial variation in species composition in a
- palm community in central Amazonia. *Journal of Tropical Ecology* **30**, 565-578.
- 866 Rojas-Ahumada DP, Landeiro VL & Menin M (2012) Role of environmental and
- 867 spatial processes in structuring anuran communities across a tropical rain forest. Austral
- 868 *Ecology* **37**, 865-873.

- 869 Rosenzweig ML (1987) Habitat selection as a source of biological diversity.
  870 *Evolutionary Ecology* 1, 315-330.
- 871 Roswell M, Dushoff J & Winfree R (2021) A conceptual guide to measuring species
- 872 diversity. *Oikos* **130**, 321-338.
- 873 Saldaña-Vázquez RA, Sosa VJ, Iñiguez-Dávalos LI & Schondube JE (2013) The role
- 874 of extrinsic and intrinsic factors in Neotropical fruit bat-plant interactions. Journal of
- 875 *Mammalogy* **94**, 632-639.
- 876 Salo J, Kalliola R, Häkkinen I, Mäkinen Y, Niemelä P, Puhakka M & Coley PD
- 877 (1986) River dynamics and the diversity of Amazon lowland forest. *Nature* **322**, 254-258.
- 878 Sampaio EM, Kalko EKV, Bernard E, Rodríguez-Herrera B & Handley CO (2003)
- 879 A biodiversity assessment of bats (Chiroptera) in a tropical lowland rainforest of central
- 880 Amazonia, including methodological and conservation considerations. Studies on
- 881 Neotropical Fauna and Environment **38**, 17–31
- 882 Schaefer HM, Schmidt V & Wesenberg J (2002) Vertical stratification and caloric
- content of the standing fruit crop in a tropical lowland forest. *Biotropica* **34**, 244-253.
- 884 Schietti J, Emilio T, Rennó CD, Drucker DP, Costa FRC, Nogueira A, Baccaro FB,
- 885 Figueiredo F, Castilho CV & Kinupp V (2014) Vertical distance from drainage drives
- floristic composition changes in an Amazonian rainforest. *Plant Ecology & Diversity* 7,
  241-253.
- Schnitzler HU, Moss CF & Denzinger A (2003) From spatial orientation to food
  acquisition in echolocating bats. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 18, 386-394.
- 890 Serviço Florestal Brasileiro (2020) Edital 01/2020 Concorrência Pública Concessão
- 891 Florestal Floresta Nacional do Amapá (AP). Ministério de Agricultura, Pecuária e
- 892 Abastecimento, Distrito Federal, Brasil

- 893 Serviço Florestal Brasileiro (2019) Plano Anual de Outorga Florestal 2020. Serviço
- 894 Florestal Brasileiro. Brasília DF, Julho de 2019. Ministério de Agricultura, Pecuária e
- Abastecimento, Distrito Federal, Brasil, 23-24 pp.
- 896 Shanahan M & Compton SG. (2001). Vertical stratification of figs and fig-eaters in a
- 897 Bornean lowland rain forest: how is the canopy different? In Plant Ecology (ed.), Tropical
- 898 Forest Canopies: Ecology and Management. Proceedings of the European Science
- 899 *Foundation Conference*, Oxford University: Springer, 121-132.
- 900 Silva RMT. 2012. Efeito da obstrução gerada pela densidade da vegetação do sub-bosque
- 901 sobre morcegos frugívoros e animalivoros catadores (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae) na
- 902 Amazônia central, Brasil. Pp. 51. Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia.
- 903 Disertação(Biologia (Ecologia))-Instituto Nacional de Pesquisas da Amazônia. 51 pp.
- 904 Simmons NB & Voss RS (1998) The mammals of Paracou, French Guiana, a Neotropical
- 905 lowland rainforest fauna. Part 1, Bats. Bulletin of the AMNH; no. 237
- 906 Sleep DJH & Brigham RM (2003) An experimental test of clutter tolerance in bats.
- 907 *Journal of Mammalogy* **84,** 216-224.
- 908 Stevens RD, López CG & Presley SJ (2007) Geographical ecology of Paraguayan bats:
- 909 spatial integration and metacommunity structure of interacting assemblages. Journal of
- 910 Animal Ecology **76**, 1086-1093.
- 911 Stockwell EF (2001) Morphology and flight manoeuvrability in New World leaf-nosed
- 912 bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomid ae). *Journal of Zoology* **254**, 505-514.
- 913 Streicker DG & Allgeier JE (2016) Foraging choices of vampire bats in diverse
- 914 landscapes: Potential implications for land-use change and disease transmission. Journal
- 915 *of Applied Ecology* **53**, 1280-1288.

Tavares AS, Morcatty TQ, Zuanon J & Magnusson WE (2019) Influence of body
size, topography, food availability and tree-fall gaps on space use by yellow-footed
tortoises (Chelonoidis denticulatus) in Central Amazonia. *PLoS One* 14, e0211869.

919 Tews J, Brose U, Grimm V, Tielbörger K, Wichmann MC, Schwager M & Jeltsch

- 920 F (2003) Diversidade de espécies animais impulsionada pela heterogeneidade /
- 921 diversidade de habitats: a importância das estruturas-chave. *Journal of Biogeography* 31,
  922 79-92.
- 923 Toledo JJ, Castilho CV, Magnusson WE & Nascimento HEM (2017) Soil controls
- biomass and dynamics of an Amazonian forest through the shifting of species and traits.
- 925 Brazilian Journal of Botany 40, 451-461.
- 926 Upham NS, Esselstyn JA & Jetz W (2019) Inferring the mammal tree: species-level sets
- 927 of phylogenies for questions in ecology, evolution, and conservation. *PLoS Biology* 17,
  928 e3000494.
- 929 Van Schaik CP, Terborgh JW & Wright SJ (1993) The phenology of tropical forests:
- 930 adaptive significance and consequences for primary consumers. Annual Review of
- 931 *Ecology and Systematics* **24**, 353-377.
- 932 Voigt CC (2010) Insights into strata use of forest animals using the 'canopy effect'.
  933 *Biotropica* 42, 634-637.
- 934 Voigt CC & Holderied MW (2012) High manoeuvring costs force narrow-winged
- molossid bats to forage in open space. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 182, 415424.
- 937 Voss RS & Emmons L (1996) Mammalian diversity in Neotropical lowland rainforests:
- a preliminary assessment. Bulletin of the AMNH; no. 230.
- 939 Webb CO (2000) Exploring the phylogenetic structure of ecological communities: an
- 940 example for rain forest trees. *The American Naturalist* **156**, 145-155.

- 941 Williams SE, Marsh H & Winter J (2002) Spatial scale, species diversity, and habitat
- structure: small mammals in Australian tropical rain forest. *Ecology* **83**, 1317-1329.
- 943 Winter Y & Von Helversen O (1998) The energy cost of flight: do small bats fly more
- 944 cheaply than birds? *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* **168**, 105-111.

# **10. Supplementary material Supplementary Material Table S1.** List of bat species with their trophic categories,

abundance in plots (N = 15) occurring in the study area of the Northeastern Brazilian

Amazon.

Species	Animalivorous	Phytophagous		
Artibeus concolor	-	2		
Artibeus lituratus	-	31		
Artibeus obscurus	-	14		
Artibeus planirostris	-	44		
Carollia brevicauda	-	10		
Carollia perspicillata	-	10		
Chrotopterus auritus	1	-		
Dermanura cinérea	-	5		
Dermanura gnoma	-	1		
Desmodus rotundus	6	-		
Hsunycteris thomasi	-	10		
Lichonycteris degener	-	3		
Lophostoma schulzi	1	-		
Lophostoma silvícola	7	-		
Mesophylla macconnelli	-	4		
Micronycteris microtis	1	-		
Mimon crenulatum	8	-		
Phylloderma stenops	-	7		
Phyllostomus elongatus	10	-		
Pteronotus sp.	31	-		
Rhinophylla pumilio	-	46		

Grand total	2	79
Total	80	199
Vampyrodes caraccioli	1	-
Vampyriscus bidens	-	2
Uroderma bilobatum	-	9
Trinycteris nicefori	3	-
Trachops cirrhosus	3	-
Tonatia saurophila	8	-
Sturnira tildae	-	1

Supplementary Material Table S2. Models relating predictor variables to taxonomic richness (q = 0) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta$ AICc < 2 (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
DNW	3	-25,25	58,7	0,00	0,30
ELE	3	-25,82	59,8	1,14	0,17
NULL	2	-28,09	61,2	2,49	0,09
ELE+DNW	4	-25,09	62,2	3,50	0,05
VCL+DNW	4	-25,11	62,2	3,53	0,05
DNW+CH	4	-25,16	62,3	3,65	0,05
DNW+BA	4	-25,18	62,4	3,67	0,05
BA	3	-27,09	62,4	3,67	0,05
ELE+BA	4	-25,41	62,8	4,14	0,04
VCL+ELE	4	-25,79	63,6	4,90	0,03
ELE+CH	4	-25,82	63,6	4,95	0,03
СН	3	-27,97	64,1	5,43	0,02
VCL	3	-28,02	64,2	5,54	0,02
VCL+BA	4	-27,02	66,1	7,37	0,01
BA+CH	4	-27,08	66,2	7,48	0,01
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-24,93	66,5	7,85	0,01

ELE+DNW+BA	5	-24,98	66,6	7,95	0,01
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-25,00	66,7	7,99	0,01
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-25,03	66,7	8,06	0,01
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-25,06	66,8	8,12	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	-25,07	66,8	8,13	0,01
ELE+BA+CH	5	-25,37	67,4	8,74	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-25,39	67,5	8,77	0,00
VCL+CH	4	-27,93	67,9	9,17	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-25,79	68,2	9,56	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	-27,02	70,7	12,03	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-24,86	72,2	13,55	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-24,87	72,2	13,55	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-24,87	72,3	13,57	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-24,98	72,5	13,77	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-25,36	73,2	14,54	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-24,78	79,6	20,87	0,00

**Note:** df – number of model parameters, logLik – log-likelihood, AICc – Akaike information criterion corrected for small samples,  $\Delta$ AICc – difference between the AICc values of the model in question and the model with the lowest AICc, wi – model weight (Akaike).

Supplementary Material Table S3. Models relating predictor variables to taxonomic diversity (q = 2) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta$ AICc < 2 (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi
DNW	3	-235,80	479,8	0,00	0,31
NULL	2	-237,86	480,7	0,95	0,19
ELE+DNW	4	-235,31	482,6	2,84	0,07
ELE	3	-237,41	483,0	3,24	0,06
VCL+DNW	4	-235,65	483,3	3,53	0,05
DNW+BA	4	-235,74	483,5	3,71	0,05
DNW+CH	4	-235,75	483,5	3,72	0,05
BA	3	-237,66	483,5	3,72	0,05
СН	3	-237,76	483,7	3,93	0,04
VCL	3	-237,83	483,8	4,07	0,04
ELE+BA	4	-237,34	486,7	6,91	0,01
ELE+CH	4	-237,39	486,8	7,01	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	-237,41	486,8	7,05	0,01
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-235,17	487,0	7,22	0,01
ELE+DNW+BA	5	-235,21	487,1	7,31	0,01
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-235,25	487,2	7,38	0,01
BA+CH	4	-237,60	487,2	7,42	0,01
-------------------	---	---------	-------	-------	------
VCL+BA	4	-237,61	487,2	7,45	0,01
VCL+CH	4	-237,75	487,5	7,72	0,01
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-235,53	487,7	7,95	0,01
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-235,61	487,9	8,12	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	-235,70	488,1	8,28	0,01
ELE+BA+CH	5	-237,33	491,3	11,55	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-237,34	491,3	11,57	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-237,39	491,5	11,68	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	-237,57	491,8	12,04	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-234,97	492,4	12,68	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-235,12	492,7	12,96	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-235,15	492,8	13,03	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-235,49	493,5	13,71	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-237,33	497,2	17,38	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-234,93	499,9	20,09	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S4. Models relating predictor variables with functional richness (q = 0) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta$ AICc < 2 (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi
NULL	2	-305,33	615,7	0,00	0,35
DNW	3	-304,73	617,6	1,98	0,13
VCL	3	-305,19	618,6	2,90	0,08
BA	3	-305,26	618,7	3,03	0,08
СН	3	-305,28	618,7	3,08	0,08
ELE	3	-305,33	618,8	3,17	0,07
ELE+DNW	4	-304,03	620,0	4,38	0,04
VCL+DNW	4	-304,19	620,4	4,72	0,03
DNW+BA	4	-304,77	621,5	5,78	0,02
DNW+CH	4	-304,73	621,5	5,79	0,02
VCL+CH	4	-305,10	622,2	6,52	0,01
VCL+BA	4	-305,13	622,3	6,58	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	-305,15	622,3	6,63	0,01
BA+CH	4	-305,23	622,5	6,78	0,01
ELE+BA	4	-305,26	622,5	6,84	0,01
ELE+CH	4	-305,28	622,6	6,90	0,01

VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-303,46	623,6	7,93	0,08
ELE+DNW+BA	5	-303,99	624,6	8,98	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-304,02	624,7	9,04	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-304,09	624,9	9,18	0,00
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-304,19	625,1	9,38	0,00
DNW+BA+CH	5	-304,72	626,1	10,44	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	-305,06	626,8	11,11	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-305,08	626,8	11,15	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-305,11	626,9	11,22	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	-305,22	627,1	11,44	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-303,29	629,1	13,40	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-303,46	629,4	13,76	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-303,99	630,5	14,80	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-304,09	630,7	15,02	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-305,05	632,6	16,93	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-303,29	636,6	20,90	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S5. Models relating the predictor variables to the functional diversity (q = 2) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICe	Wi
DNW	3	296,86	601,9	0,00	0,41
ELE+DNW	4	296,40	604,8	2,92	0,10
NULL	2	300,00	605,0	3,12	0,09
VCL+DNW	4	296,71	605,4	3,53	0,07
DNW+CH	4	296,84	605,7	3,79	0,06
DNW+BA	4	296,85	605,7	3,80	0,06
ELE	3	299,15	606,5	4,58	0,04
BA	3	299,52	607,2	5,33	0,03
СН	3	299,53	607,2	5,34	0,03
VCL	3	299,92	608,0	6,12	0,02
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	296,27	609,2	7,31	0,01
ELE+DNW+BA	5	296,38	609,4	7,53	0,01
ELE+DNW+CH	5	296,39	609,5	7,56	0,01
ELE+CH	4	298,92	609,8	7,95	0,01
ELE+BA	4	298,93	609,9	7,97	0,01
VCL+DNW+BA	5	296,67	610,0	8,12	0,01

VCL+DNW+CH	5	296,69	610,1	8,16	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	299,15	610,3	8,40	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	296,84	610,3	8,44	0,01
BA+CH	4	299,18	610,4	8,46	0,01
VCL+BA	4	299,40	610,8	8,90	0,01
VCL+CH	4	299,50	611,0	9,11	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	298,75	614,2	12,27	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	298,92	614,5	12,61	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	298,92	614,5	12,61	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	296,19	614,9	12,99	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	299,12	614,9	13,02	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	296,25	615,0	13,10	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	296,37	615,2	13,34	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	296,65	615,8	13,91	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	298,74	620,0	18,09	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	296,17	622,3	20,44	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S6. Models relating predictor variables to phylogenetic richness (q = 0) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta$ AICc < 2 (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi
NULL	2	-221,99	449,0	0,00	0,40
DNW	3	-221,85	451,9	2,90	0,10
VCL	3	-221,88	451,9	2,94	0,09
СН	3	-221,99	452,2	3,17	0,08
ELE	3	-221,97	452,2	3,18	0,08
BA	3	-221,97	452,2	3,18	0,08
VCL+DNW	4	-221,58	455,2	6,17	0,02
ELE+DNW	4	-221,62	455,2	6,24	0,02
DNW+BA	4	-221,82	455,6	6,64	0,02
DNW+CH	4	-221,85	455,7	6,71	0,01
VCL+CH	4	-221,86	455,7	6,72	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	-221,87	455,7	6,75	0,01
VCL+BA	4	-221,88	455,8	6,76	0,01
ELE+CH	4	-221,99	456,0	6,99	0,01
BA+CH	4	-221,99	456,0	6,99	0,01
ELE+BA	4	-221,99	456,0	7,00	0,01

VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-221,35	459,4	10,37	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-221,45	459,6	10,58	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA	5	-221,55	459,8	10,78	0,00
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-221,58	459,8	10,83	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-221,61	459,9	10,89	0,00
DNW+BA+CH	5	-221,81	460,3	11,30	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-221,85	460,4	11,38	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	-221,86	460,4	11,38	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-221,87	460,4	11,41	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	-221,99	460,6	11,65	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-221,16	464,9	15,86	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-221,35	465,2	16,20	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-221,45	465,4	16,41	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-221,55	465,6	16,60	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-221,85	466,2	17,21	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-221,17	472,3	23,36	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S7. Models relating predictor variables to phylogenetic diversity (q = 2) of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta$ AICc < 2 (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	Wi
NULL	2	-499,81	1004,6	0,00	0,28
DNW	3	-498,79	1005,8	1,14	0,16
СН	3	-499,04	1006,3	1,64	0,12
ELE	3	-499,25	1006,7	2,06	0,10
VCL	3	-499,69	1007,6	2,94	0,06
BA	3	-499,78	1007,7	3,13	0,06
DNW+CH	4	-498,46	1008,9	4,30	0,03
DNW+BA	4	-498,65	1009,3	4,69	0,03
ELE+CH	4	-498,74	1009,5	4,86	0,02
ELE+DNW	4	-498,78	1009,6	4,95	0,02
VCL+DNW	4	-498,79	1009,6	4,96	0,02
VCL+CH	4	-499,00	1010,0	5,39	0,02
BA+CH	4	-499,04	1010,1	5,46	0,02
VCL+ELE	4	-499,23	1010,5	5,84	0,02
ELE+BA	4	-499,24	1010,5	5,87	0,02
VCL+BA	4	-499,65	1011,3	6,69	0,01

DNW+BA+CH	5	-498,31	1013,3	8,67	0,00
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-498,45	1013,6	8,96	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-498,46	1013,6	8,96	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-498,64	1014,0	9,34	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA	5	-498,65	1014,0	9,35	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	-498,71	1014,1	9,47	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-498,73	1014,1	9,52	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-498,78	1014,2	9,62	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	-499,00	1014,7	10,05	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-499,22	1015,1	10,50	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-498,28	1019,1	14,45	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-498,31	1019,1	14,50	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-498,45	1019,4	14,79	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-498,64	1019,8	15,16	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-498,71	1019,9	15,30	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-498,28	1026,6	21,94	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S8. Models relating the predictor variables with the CWM of the mean body mass of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
BA	3	-452,05	912,3	0,00	0,24
VCL+BA	4	-450,62	913,2	0,95	0,15
NULL	2	-454,31	913,6	1,35	0,12
VCL	3	-453,08	914,3	2,06	0,09
BA+CH	4	-451,30	914,6	2,31	0,08
ELE+BA	4	-451,73	915,5	3,18	0,05
DNW+BA	4	-451,91	915,8	3,54	0,04
СН	3	-454,12	916,4	4,12	0,03
DNW	3	-454,18	916,5	4,25	0,03
VCL+DNW	4	-452,27	916,5	4,25	0,03
ELE	3	-454,31	916,8	4,53	0,03
VCL+BA+CH	5	-450,14	917,0	4,67	0,02
VCL+ELE+BA	5	-450,57	917,8	5,53	0,02
VCL+DNW+BA	5	-450,59	917,9	5,57	0,02
VCL+ELE	4	-452,98	918,0	5,67	0,01
VCL+CH	4	-453,01	918,0	5,73	0,01

ELE+BA+CH	5	-451,15	919,0	6,67	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	-451,29	919,2	6,95	0,01
DNW+CH	4	-453,76	919,5	7,23	0,01
ELE+DNW	4	-453,92	919,8	7,55	0,01
ELE+DNW+BA	5	-451,73	920,1	7,84	0,01
ELE+CH	4	-454,10	920,2	7,91	0,01
VCL+DNW+CH	5	-451,89	920,4	8,14	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	-451,97	920,6	8,33	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	-452,85	922,4	10,09	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	-450,01	922,5	10,24	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	-450,14	922,8	10,49	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	-450,37	923,2	10,96	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	-453,47	923,6	11,32	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	-451,08	924,7	12,37	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	-451,56	925,6	13,33	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	-449,76	929,5	17,24	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S9. Models relating predictor variables with CWM of phytophagous Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	<b>AAICc</b>	wi
NULL	2	13,42	-21,8	0,00	0,34
DNW	3	14,06	-19,9	1,90	0,13
СН	3	13,53	-18,9	2,95	0,08
VCL	3	13,44	-18,7	3,14	0,07
BA	3	13,44	-18,7	3,14	0,07
ELE	3	13,42	-18,7	3,18	0,07
ELE+DNW	4	15,10	-18,2	3,64	0,05
DNW+CH	4	14,69	-17,4	4,47	0,04
VCL+DNW	4	14,34	-16,7	5,15	0,03
DNW+BA	4	14,16	-16,3	5,52	0,02
ELE+DNW+CH	5	16,03	-15,4	6,44	0,01
BA+CH	4	13,58	-15,2	6,69	0,01
ELE+CH	4	13,54	-15,1	6,75	0,01
VCL+CH	4	13,54	-15,1	6,76	0,01
VCL+BA	4	13,46	-14,9	6,93	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	13,44	-14,9	6,96	0,01

ELE+BA	4	13,44	-14,9	6,96	0,01
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	15,48	-14,3	7,54	0,01
ELE+DNW+BA	5	15,38	-14,1	7,74	0,01
VCL+DNW+CH	5	14,97	-13,3	8,56	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	14,82	-13,0	8,87	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	14,64	-12,6	9,21	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	13,58	-10,5	11,35	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	13,58	-10,5	11,35	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	13,55	-10,4	11,39	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	16,44	-10,4	11,47	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	16,42	-10,3	11,50	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	13,46	-10,2	11,59	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	16,19	-9,9	11,96	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	15,33	-8,2	13,67	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	17,35	-4,7	17,14	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	13,58	-4,7	17,17	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S10. Models relating predictor variables with CWM of animal-eating Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
NULL	2	14,28	-23,6	0,00	0,32
СН	3	15,05	-21,9	1,63	0,14
VCL	3	14,64	-21,1	2,46	0,09
BA	3	14,42	-20,7	2,89	0,07
DNW	3	14,40	-20,6	2,94	0,07
ELE	3	14,29	-20,4	3,15	0,07
DNW+CH	4	15,64	-19,3	4,27	0,04
BA+CH	4	15,40	-18,8	4,76	0,03
VCL+CH	4	15,26	-18,5	5,03	0,03
ELE+CH	4	15,07	-18,1	5,42	0,02
VCL+DNW	4	15,02	-18,0	5,51	0,02
ELE+DNW	4	14,81	-17,6	5,94	0,02
VCL+BA	4	14,76	-17,5	6,03	0,02
VCL+ELE	4	14,64	-17,3	6,27	0,01
ELE+BA	4	14,49	-17,0	6,58	0,01
DNW+BA	4	14,46	-16,9	6,64	0,01

VCL+DNW+CH	5	16,24	-15,8	7,74	0,01
ELE+DNW+CH	5	16,16	-15,6	7,90	0,01
DNW+BA+CH	5	15,73	-14,8	8,77	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	15,56	-14,5	9,10	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	15,44	-14,2	9,33	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	15,40	-14,1	9,43	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	15,32	-14,0	9,58	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	15,03	-13,4	10,17	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA	5	14,84	-13,0	10,53	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	14,77	-12,9	10,69	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	16,77	-11,0	12,52	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	16,25	-10,0	13,56	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	16,21	-9,9	13,63	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	15,57	-8,6	14,92	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	15,45	-8,4	15,16	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	16,77	-3,5	20,02	0,00

Supplementary Material Table S11. Models relating the predictor variables with the CWM of the relative aspect of the wing of Phyllostomid bats in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
NULL	2	3,31	-1,6	0,00	0,37
СН	3	3,75	0,7	2,31	0,12
BA	3	3,49	1,2	2,83	0,09
VCL	3	3,46	1,3	2,89	0,09
DNW	3	3,36	1,5	3,09	0,08
ELE	3	3,34	1,6	3,17	0,08
BA+CH	4	3,84	4,3	5,93	0,02
ELE+CH	4	3,83	4,3	5,96	0,02
VCL+CH	4	3,82	4,4	5,98	0,02
DNW+CH	4	3,75	4,5	6,12	0,02
VCL+BA	4	3,66	4,7	6,30	0,02
ELE+BA	4	3,53	4,9	6,55	0,01
ELE+DNW	4	3,51	5,0	6,59	0,01
VCL+ELE	4	3,50	5,0	6,62	0,01
DNW+BA	4	3,49	5,0	6,65	0,01

VCL+DNW	4	3,46	5,1	6,69	0,01
ELE+BA+CH	5	3,99	8,7	10,31	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	3,95	8,8	10,38	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	3,93	8,8	10,42	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	3,91	8,9	10,47	0,00
DNW+BA+CH	5	3,87	8,9	10,54	0,00
VCL+DNW+CH	5	3,83	9,0	10,62	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	3,82	9,1	10,67	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA	5	3,69	9,3	10,90	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW	5	3,63	9,4	11,02	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA	5	3,62	9,4	11,05	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	4,18	14,1	15,76	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	4,04	14,4	16,03	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	4,01	14,5	16,10	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	3,99	14,5	16,12	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	3,83	14,8	16,46	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	4,18	21,6	23,25	0,00

**Note:** df – number of model parameters, logLik – log-likelihood, AICc – Akaike information criterion corrected for small samples,  $\Delta$ AICc – difference between the AICc values of the model in question and the model with the lowest AICc, wi – model weight (Akaike).

Supplementary Material Table S12. Models relating the predictor variables with the CWM of the relative load of Phyllostomid bat wings in a terra firme forest gradient in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon. The models were listed according to the corrected Akaike information criterion (AICc), selecting those that presented values of  $\Delta AICc < 2$  (in bold). The predictors that enter the models are distance to the nearest watercourse – DNW; elevation – ELE; canopy height – CH; basal area – BA; vegetation clutter – VCL.

Models	df	logLik	AICc	ΔAICc	wi
NULL	2	7,40	-9,8	0,00	0,34
VCL	3	7,84	-7,5	2,30	0,11
DNW	3	7,78	-7,4	2,41	0,10
BA	3	7,63	-7,1	2,71	0,09
СН	3	7,45	-6,7	3,08	0,07
ELE	3	7,40	-6,6	3,18	0,07
VCL+DNW	4	8,77	-5,5	4,25	0,04
ELE+DNW	4	8,33	-4,7	5,14	0,03
VCL+BA	4	8,05	-4,1	5,70	0,02
DNW+CH	4	8,03	-4,1	5,74	0,02
VCL+ ELE	4	7,89	-3,8	6,01	0,02
VCL+CH	4	7,85	-3,7	6,10	0,02
DNW+BA	4	7,83	-3,7	6,13	0,02
BA+CH	4	7,74	-3,5	6,32	0,01
ELE+BA	4	7,65	-3,3	6,50	0,01
ELE+CH	4	7,45	-2,9	6,89	0,01

VCL+ELE+DNW	5	9,35	-2,0	7,76	0,01
VCL+DNW+CH	5	8,98	-1,3	8,51	0,01
VCL+DNW+BA	5	8,77	-0,9	8,92	0,00
ELE+DNW+CH	5	8,61	-0,5	9,25	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA	5	8,35	0,0	9,76	0,00
DNW+BA+CH	5	8,09	0,5	10,28	0,00
VCL+BA+CH	5	8,09	0,5	10,29	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA	5	8,06	0,6	10,35	0,00
VCL+ELE+CH	5	7,92	0,8	10,62	0,00
ELE+BA+CH	5	7,74	1,2	10,98	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+CH	6	9,59	3,3	13,11	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA	6	9,37	3,8	13,56	0,00
VCL+DNW+BA+CH	6	8,98	4,5	14,34	0,00
ELE+DNW+BA+CH	6	8,64	5,2	15,02	0,00
VCL+ELE+BA+CH	6	8,10	6,3	16,09	0,00
VCL+ELE+DNW+BA+CH	7	9,60	10,8	20,59	0,00

## 11. CONCLUSÕES

Nossa abordagem multidimensional mostrou-se uma ferramenta eficiente para compreender como os fatores ambientais influenciam as dimensões da diversidade alfa de morcegos em ecossistemas amazônicos.

Distância para o curso d'água mais próximo e elevação do terreno são preditores importantes para estruturação das assembleias de morcegos, que é composta por grupos taxonômicos e funcionais mais diversos em áreas mais elevadas e mais distantes dos corpos d'água.

A estrutura da vegetação exerce influência sobre a massa média dos morcegos, sendo que morcegos maiores têm maior peso nas assembleias que estão em locais com árvores com maior área basal.

Finalmente, nossa abordagem multidimensional nos permitiu discutir importantes implicações para a conservação dos morcegos e das florestas de terra firme da FLONA do Amapá. Especificamente, mudanças devem ser feitas na legislação ambiental relacionada às Áreas de Proteção Permanente (APP). Segundo nossos dados, a área mínima atual de APP parece não proteger onde há maior riqueza e diversidade de morcegos. Além disso, mudanças devem ocorrer nos planos de manejo para exploração de madeira em Florestas Nacionais, com uma revisão na quantidade da extração de árvores com maior área basal, afim de garantir a conservação da fauna de morcegos Amazônicos.

## **12. ANEXOS**

Comprovante de submissão do artigo "**Bat diversity is driven by elevation and distance to the watercourse in** *terra firme* **forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon**" para o periodico Journal of Tropical Ecology.



	Salaslas/Inte Manuscripte	
NOV 2021	butter Desktored	
	Author Dashooard	
0	Clarivate Analytics   @ ScholarOne, Inc., 2021. All Rights Reserved.	
S	cholarOne Manuscripts and ScholarOne are registered trademarks of ScholarOne, Inc.	
	croarone manuscripts Patents #1,257,757 and #1,255,050.	
Я	@ScholarOneNews   0% System Requirements   4 Privacy Statement   4 Terms of Use	
the line of	manuscripteentral com/ite	3
A CONTRACTOR OF		-

Comprovante de mudança de status para "sob revisão" do artigo "**Bat diversity is driven by elevation and distance to the watercourse in** *terra firme* **forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon**" para o periódico Journal of Tropical Ecology.

Journal of Trop	oical E	cology	C C	AMBRIDGE NIVERSITY PRESS		
# Home / Author 🔉 F	Review					
Author Dashboard  1 Submitted Manuscripts Start New Submission	>	Submitted status	Man	uscripts TTLE	CREATED	SUBMITTED
5 Most Recent E-mails	>	EIC: Novotny, Vojtech	JTE-21- 068	Bat diversity is driven by elevation and distance to the watercourse in terra firme forest in Northeastern Brazilian Amazon View Submission	20-Jul-2021	21-Jul-2021
		Contact Journal				